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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q 

(Mark One)

x Quarterly Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2006

OR

¨ Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

For the transition period from _______________ to _______________

Commission file number: 000-17219 

CLEARONE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (801) 975-7200 

Indicate by check whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for 
such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.  

Yes x  No ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of “accelerated filer and larger accelerated filer” in 
Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Larger Accelerated Filer ¨ Accelerated Filer ¨ Non-Accelerated Filer x 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ¨  No x 

APPLICABLE ONLY TO REGISTRANTS INVOLVED IN BANKRUPTCY 
PROCEEDINGS DURING THE PRECEDING FIVE YEARS

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all documents and reports required to be filed by Section 12, 13, or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 subsequent to 

the distribution of securities under a plan confirmed by a court. Yes ¨  No ¨ 

APPLICABLE ONLY TO CORPORATE REGISTRANTS

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the registrant’s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date. There were 12,184,727 shares of the Company’s 
Common Stock, par value $0.001, outstanding on June 15, 2006.

 

Filer: ClearOne Communications, Inc. Form Type: 10-Q Period: 03-31-2006 Job Number: form10q03312006 Rev: 1 Sequence: 1

Project: form10-q03312006.pdml Document Name: form10-q03312006.htm Saved: 6/28/2006 15:23:33 Printed: 6/28/2006 15:23:48

clearone communications, inc. Description: ClearOne Communications, Inc. Form 10-Q For the Period Ended 03/31/2006 Created using EDGARizer HTML

Utah   87-0398877 
(State or other jurisdiction of 
incorporation or organization)

  (I.R.S. employer 
identification number)

1825 Research Way, Salt Lake City, Utah   84119

(Address of principal executive offices)   (Zip Code)
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DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This report contains forward-looking statements as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements reflect our views with respect to future events 
based upon information available to us at this time. These forward-looking statements are subject to uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially 
from these statements. Forward-looking statements are typically identified by the use of the words “believe,” “may,” “could,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” 
“project,” “propose,” “plan,” “intend,” and similar words and expressions; however, not all forward-looking statements contain these words. Examples of forward-looking statements 
are statements that describe the proposed development, manufacturing, and sale of our products; statements that describe our results of operations, pricing trends, the markets for our 
products, our anticipated capital expenditures, our cost reduction and operational restructuring initiatives, and regulatory developments; statements with regard to the nature and extent 
of competition we may face in the future; statements with respect to the sources of and need for future financing; and statements with respect to future strategic plans, goals, and 
objectives. Forward-looking statements are contained in this report in Item 2, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” Item 3, 
“Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk,” and Item 4, “Controls and Procedures” included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The forward-looking statements 
are based on present circumstances and on our predictions respecting events that have not occurred, that may not occur, or that may occur with different consequences and timing 
than those now assumed or anticipated. Actual events or results may differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including 
the risk factors discussed in this report under Part II - Other Information, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” and the application of “Critical Accounting Policies” as discussed in Item 2, 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” These cautionary statements are intended to be applicable to all related forward-looking 
statements wherever they appear in this report. The cautionary statements contained or referred to in this report should also be considered in connection with any subsequent written 
or oral forward-looking statements that may be issued by us or persons acting on our behalf. Any forward-looking statements are made only as of the date of this report and ClearOne 
assumes no obligation to update forward-looking statements to reflect subsequent events, changes in circumstances, or changes in estimates.  

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING THE FILING DATE OF THIS REPORT AND THE ANTICIPATED FUTURE FILINGS OF ADDITIONAL PAST-DUE REPORTS 

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the third quarter of the fiscal year ending June 30, 2006 is first being filed in June 2006. Shareholders and others are cautioned that the financial 
statements included in this report are close to three months old and are not necessarily indicative of the operating results that may be expected for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2006. 
Shareholders and others should also be aware that the staff of the Salt Lake District Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) intended to recommend to the 
Commission that administrative proceedings be instituted to revoke the registration of the Company’s common stock based on the Company’s failure to timely file annual and quarterly 
reports with the Commission. The Company provided the staff with a so-called “Wells Submission” setting forth its position with respect to the staff’s intended recommendation. To 
date, the Commission has not instituted an administrative proceeding against the Company; however, there can be no assurance that the Commission will not institute an administrative 
proceeding in the future or that the Company would prevail if an administrative proceeding were instituted. 
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CLEARONE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited)
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
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    March 31,   June 30,  
    2006   2005  
           

ASSETS          
Current assets:          

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 1,631  $ 1,892 
Marketable securities     18,850     15,800  
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts
of $49 and $46, respectively

    6,981     6,859  
Inventories, net     5,658     5,806  
Income tax receivable     3,658     3,952  
Deferred income taxes, net     135     270  
Prepaid expenses     514     300  

Total current assets     37,427     34,879  
             
Property and equipment, net     2,017     2,805  
Intangibles, net     196     322  
Other assets     15     15  
Deferred taxes     -      -   

Total assets   $ 39,655  $ 38,021 

             
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY            

Current liabilities:            
Accounts payable   $ 1,797  $ 2,163 
Accrued liabilities     1,710     5,622  
Deferred product revenue     5,355     5,055  

Total current liabilities     8,862     12,840  
             
Deferred income taxes, net     135     270  

Total liabilities     8,997     13,110  
             
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 8)            
             
Shareholders' equity:            

Common stock, par value $0.001; 50,000,000 shares authorized;            
12,184,727 and 11,264,233 shares issued and outstanding, respectively     12     11  
Additional paid-in capital     52,498     49,393  
Deferred compensation     -      (33)
Accumulated deficit     (21,852)   (24,460)

Total shareholders' equity     30,658     24,911  

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity   $ 39,655  $ 38,021 

             
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements
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CLEARONE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(Unaudited)

(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
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    Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
    March 31,   March 31,   March 31,   March 31,  
    2006   2005   2006   2005  
                   
Product Revenue:   $ 8,700  $ 7,103  $ 27,902  $ 22,542 
                       
Cost of goods sold:                      

Product     4,477     3,167     13,788     10,307  
Product inventory write-offs     148     13     425     618  

Total cost of goods sold     4,625     3,180     14,213     10,925  
Gross profit     4,075     3,923     13,689     11,617  

                       
Operating expenses:                      

Marketing and selling     1,920     2,151     5,542     6,578  
General and administrative     1,060     1,287     4,288     4,110  
Settlement in shareholders' class action     -      (855)   (1,205)   (2,609)

Research and product development     2,201     1,423     5,778     3,810  
Total operating expenses     5,181     4,006     14,403     11,889  

                       
Operating (loss) income     (1,106)   (83)   (714)   (272)

                       
Other income (expense), net:                      

Interest income     218     110     563     292  
Interest expense     -      (2)   -      (105)

Other, net     19     (13)   31     6  
Total other income (expense), net     237     95     594     193  

                       
(Loss) income from continuing operations before income taxes     (869)   12     (120)   (79)
Benefit (provision) for income taxes     763     (5)   1,050     29  

(Loss) income from continuing operations     (106)   7     930     (50)

                       
Discontinued operations:                      

Income from discontinued operations     -      171     -      225  
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations     1,030     332     2,676     17,701  
Income tax provision     (384)   (115)   (998)   (4,119)

Income from discontinued operations     646     388     1,678     13,807  
                       

Net income   $ 540  $ 395  $ 2,608  $ 13,757 

                       
Comprehensive income (loss):                      

Net income   $ 540  $ 395  $ 2,608  $ 13,757 
Foreign currency translation adjustments      -    (17)    -    112  

Less: reclassification adjustments for foreign currency translation                      
adjustments included in net income (loss)     -      (1,301)   -      (1,301)

                       
Comprehensive income (loss)   $ 540  $ (923) $ 2,608  $ 12,568 

                       
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements
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CLEARONE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (CONTINUED)
(Unaudited)

(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
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    Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
    March 31,   March 31,   March 31,   March 31,  
    2006   2005   2006   2005  
                   
Basic earnings (loss) per common share from continuing operations   $ (0.01) $ -  $ 0.08  $ - 
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share from continuing operations   $ (0.01) $ -  $ 0.08  $ - 
                       
Basic earnings (loss) per common share from discontinued operations   $ 0.05  $ 0.03  $ 0.14  $ 1.24 
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share from discontinued 
operations

 
$ 0.05  $ 0.03  $ 0.14  $ 1.11 

                       
Basic earnings (loss) per common share   $ 0.04  $ 0.03  $ 0.22  $ 1.23 
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share   $ 0.04  $ 0.03  $ 0.21  $ 1.11 
                       
Basic weighted average shares outstanding     12,184,727     11,264,233     11,882,375     11,148,569  
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding     12,187,446     12,300,869     12,214,401     12,355,366  
                       

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements
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CLEARONE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

(Unaudited)
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
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                    Retained      
            Additional       Earnings   Total  
    Common Stock   Paid-In   Deferred   (Accumulated   Shareholders'  
    Shares   Amount   Capital   Compensation   Deficit)   Equity  
                           
Balances at June 30, 2005     11,264,233   $ 11  $ 49,393  $ (33) $ (24,460) $ 24,911 
                                 
Issuance of Common Shares related to                                
   shareholder settlement agreement     920,494     1     2,263     -      -      2,264  
SFAS No. 123R compensation cost     -      -      827     -      -      827  
Compensation expense resulting from                                
   the modification of stock options     -      -      15     -      -      15  
SFAS No. 123R transition expense     -      -      -      33     -      33  
Net income     -      -      -      -      2,608     2,608  
Balances at March 31, 2006     12,184,727   $ 12  $ 52,498  $ -  $ (21,852) $ 30,658 

                                 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CLEARONE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
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    Nine Months Ended  
    March 31,   March 31,  
    2006   2005  
Cash flows from operating activities:          

Net income (loss) from continuing operations   $ 930  $ (50)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) from continuing operations            
to net cash provided by operations:            

Depreciation and amortization expense     1,124     1,813  
Stock-based compensation     873     57  
Write-off of inventory     425     618  
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets and fixed assets write-offs     (59)   (7)

Provision for doubtful accounts     3     41  
Purchase accounting adjustment     -      395  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:            

Accounts receivable     (125)   (108)

Inventories     (277)   (23)

Prepaid expenses and other assets     (214)   112  
Accounts payable     (366)   (813)

Accrued liabilities     (1,646)   (4,796)

Income taxes     294     2,620  
Deferred product revenue     300     (619)
Net change in other assets/liabilities     -      4  

Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operating activities     1,262     (756)
Net cash provided by discontinued operating activities     -      168  

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities     1,262     (588)

             
Cash flows from investing activities:            

Purchase of property and equipment     (233)   (929)

Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment     82     8  
Purchase of marketable securities     (5,450)   (43,300)
Sale of marketable securities     2,400     31,050  

Net cash used in continuing investing activities     (3,201)   (13,171)
Net cash provided by discontinued investing activities     1,678     14,057  

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities     (1,523)   886  
             
Cash flows from financing activities:            

Principal payments on capital lease obligations     -      (8)
Principal payments on note payable     -      (932)

Net cash used in continuing financing activities     -      (940)
Net cash used in discontinued financing activities     -      -   

Net cash used in financing activities     -      (940)

             
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     (261)   (642)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period     1,892     4,207  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period   $ 1,631  $ 3,565 

             
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements
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CLEARONE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(Unaudited)
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
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    Nine Months Ended  
    March 31,   March 31,  
    2006   2005  
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:          

Cash paid for interest   $ -  $ 104 
Cash paid (received) for income taxes     (346)   1,114  

             
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing activities:            

Value of common shares issued in shareholder settlement   $ 2,264  $ 957 
             

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements
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CLEARONE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements, consisting of the condensed consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2006 and June 30, 2005, the 
condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the three months and nine months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, the condensed consolidated 
statement of shareholders’ equity for the nine months ended March 31, 2006, and the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 and 
2005, have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q of 
Regulation S-X. Accordingly, certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in complete financial statements have been condensed or omitted. These condensed 
consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the year ended June 30, 2005.

In management’s opinion, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. The results of operations for 
interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected for the entire year or for any future period. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policy Update

Pervasiveness of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
the reported amounts of sales and expenses during the reporting periods. Key estimates in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements include, among others, 
revenue recognition, allowances for doubtful accounts and product returns, provisions for obsolete inventory, valuation of long-lived assets including goodwill, and deferred income 
tax asset valuation allowances. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates. 

Revenue Recognition - The Company evaluates, at each quarter-end, the inventory in the channel through information provided by certain of its distributors.  The level of inventory in 
the channel will fluctuate up or down, each quarter, based upon these distributors’ individual operations.  Accordingly, each quarter-end revenue deferral is calculated and recorded 
based upon the underlying, estimated channel inventory at quarter-end.  The amounts of deferred cost of goods sold were included in consigned inventory. The following table details 
the amount of deferred revenue, cost of goods sold, and gross profit at each period end for the 21-month period ended March 31, 2006. 
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  Deferred 

Revenue  

Deferred 
Cost of 

Goods Sold  
Deferred 

Gross Profit 
               
March 31, 2006   $ 5,355  $ 2,443  $ 2,912 
December 31, 2005     4,936     2,199     2,737  
September 30, 2005     4,848     2,373     2,475  
June 30, 2005     5,055     2,297     2,758  
March 31, 2005     5,456     2,321     3,135  
December 31, 2004     4,742     1,765     2,977  
September 30, 2004     5,617     1,920     3,697  
June 30, 2004     6,107     2,381     3,726  
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Share-Based Payment - Prior to June 30, 2005 and as permitted under the original Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, the Company accounted for its share-
based payments following the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” as interpreted. 
Accordingly, no share-based compensation expense had been reflected in the Company’s fiscal 2005 statements of operations for unmodified option grants since (1) the exercise price 
equaled the market value of the underlying common stock on the grant date and (2) the related number of shares to be granted upon exercise of the stock option was fixed on the grant 
date.

If the compensation cost of its stock options had been determined consistent with the original SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net income and earnings per common share and common 
share equivalent would have changed to the pro-forma amounts indicated below: 

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment.” SFAS No. 123R is a revision of SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 123R 
establishes standards for the accounting for transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services. Primarily, SFAS No. 123R focuses on accounting for 
transactions in which an entity obtains employee services in share-based payment transactions. It also addresses transactions in which an entity incurs liabilities in exchange for goods 
or services that are based on the fair value of the entity’s equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of those equity instruments. 

SFAS No. 123R requires the Company to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant date fair value of the award 
(with limited exceptions). That cost will be recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the awards - the requisite service period 
(usually the vesting period). No compensation cost is recognized for equity instruments for which employees do not render the requisite service. Therefore, if an employee does not 
ultimately render the requisite service, the costs associated with the unvested options will not be recognized, cumulatively. 

Effective July 1, 2005, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123R and its fair value recognition provisions using the modified prospective transition method. Under this transition method, 
stock-based compensation cost recognized after July 1, 2005 includes the straight-line basis compensation cost for (a) all share-based payments granted prior to July 1, 2005, but not yet 
vested, based on the grant date fair values used for the pro-forma disclosures under the original SFAS No. 123 and (b) all share-based payments granted or modified on or after July 1, 
2005, in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123R. See Note 9 for information about the Company’s various share-based compensation plans, the impact of adoption of SFAS 
No. 123R, and the assumptions used to calculate the fair value of share-based compensation. 
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CLEARONE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(Unaudited)

(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)

    Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
    March 31,   March 31,  
    2005   2005  
Net income:          

As reported   $ 395  $ 13,757 
Stock-based employee compensation expense included in            

reported net income, net of income taxes     3     10  
Stock-based employee compensation expense determined            

under the fair-value method of all awards, net of income taxes     (166)   (498)

Pro forma   $ 232  $ 13,269 

             
Basic earnings (loss) per common share:            

As reported   $ 0.03  $ 1.23 
Pro forma     0.02     1.19  

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share:            
As reported   $ 0.03  $ 1.11 
Pro forma     0.02    1.07  
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If assumptions change in the application of SFAS No. 123R in future periods, the stock-based compensation cost ultimately recorded under SFAS No. 123R may differ significantly from 
what was recorded in the current period.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations in the European Union

In June 2005, the FASB issued a FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) interpreting SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” specifically FSP 143-1, “Accounting for 
Electronic Equipment Waste Obligations.” FSP 143-1 addresses the accounting for obligations associated with Directive 2002/96/EC, “Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment,” 
which was adopted by the European Union (“EU”). The FSP provides guidance on how to account for the effects of the Directive but only with respect to historical waste associated 
with products placed on the market on or before August 13, 2005. FSP 143-1 was effective beginning with the Company’s fiscal 2006 financial statements. Management does not believe 
that the adoption of FSP 143-1 had a material effect on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial position, or liquidity. 

Inventory Costs 

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs - an Amendment of ARB No. 43,” which is the result of its efforts to converge U.S. accounting standards for 
inventories with International Accounting Standards. SFAS No. 151 requires idle facility expenses, freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage) costs to be recognized as 
current-period charges. It also requires that allocation of fixed production overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. SFAS No. 
151 was effective beginning with the Company’s fiscal 2006 financial statements. There was not a significant impact on the Company’s business, results of operations, financial 
position, or liquidity from the adoption of this standard.

Accounting Changes and Error Corrections 

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections - a Replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3,” in order to converge 
U.S. accounting standards with International Accounting Standards. SFAS No. 154 changes the requirements for the accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. 
Previously, most voluntary changes in accounting principles required recognition of a cumulative effect adjustment within net income of the period of the change. SFAS No. 154 
requires retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements, unless it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. 
SFAS No. 154 is effective for accounting changes made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005; however, it does not change the transition provisions of any existing 
accounting pronouncements. The Company does not believe that the adoption of SFAS No. 154 will have a material effect on its business, results of operations, financial position, or 
liquidity.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment 

In March 2004, the FASB issued Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 03-01, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and its Application to Certain 
Investments,” which provides new guidance for assessing impairment losses on debt and equity investments. The new impairment model applies to investments accounted for under 
the cost or equity method and investments accounted for under SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” EITF No. 03-01 also includes new 
disclosure requirements for cost method investments and for all investments that are in an unrealized loss position. In September 2004, the FASB delayed the accounting provisions of 
EITF No. 03-01; however, the disclosure requirements remain effective. The Company does not expect that the adoption of this EITF, when the delay is suspended, will have a material 
impact on its business, results of operations, financial position, or liquidity.

CLEARONE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Unaudited)
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
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3. Earnings Per Common Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share:

Options that had an exercise price greater than the average market price of the common shares (“Out-of-the-Money Options”) during the respective period were not included in the 
computation of diluted earnings per share as the effect would be anti-dilutive. An average total of 1,302,769 and 1,469,965 Out-of-the-Money Options were not included during the three 
months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. An average total of 1,393,384 and 1,433,969 Out-of-the-Money Options were not included during the nine months ended March 31, 
2006 and 2005, respectively. Warrants to purchase 150,000 shares of common stock were outstanding as of March 31, 2006 and 2005, but were not included in the computation of diluted 
earnings per share for the three-month and nine-month periods ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, as the effect would be anti-dilutive. During fiscal 2004, the Company entered into a 
settlement agreement related to the shareholders’ class action and agreed to issue 1.2 million shares of its common stock; however, certain of these shares were settled in cash in lieu of 
common stock (see Note 8). The Company issued 228,000 shares in November 2004 and 920,494 shares in September 2005. 

CLEARONE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Unaudited)
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
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    Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
    March 31,   March 31,   March 31,   March 31,  
    2006   2005   2006   2005  
Numerator:                  

Income (loss) from continuing operations   $ (106) $ 7  $ 930  $ (50)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax     -      132     -      173  
Gain (loss) on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax     646     256     1,678     13,634  

Net income (loss)   $ 540  $ 395  $ 2,608  $ 13,757 

Denominator:                      
Basic weighted average shares outstanding     12,184,727     11,264,233     11,882,375     11,148,569  
Dilutive common stock equivalents using treasury stock method     2,719     1,036,636     332,026     1,206,797  

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding     12,187,446     12,300,869     12,214,401     12,355,366  

                       
Basic earnings (loss) per common share:                      

Continuing operations   $ (0.01) $ -  $ 0.08  $ - 
Discontinued operations     -      0.01     -      0.02  
Disposal of discontinued operations     0.05     0.02     0.14     1.22  

Net income (loss)     0.04     0.03     0.22     1.23  
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share:                      

Continuing operations   $ (0.01) $ -  $ 0.08  $ - 
Discontinued operations     -      0.01     -      0.01  
Disposal of discontinued operations     0.05     0.02     0.14     1.10  

Net income (loss)     0.04     0.03     0.21     1.11  

 

13



4. Discontinued Operations

During fiscal 2005, the Company completed the sale of its conferencing services business component to Clarinet, Inc., an affiliate of American Teleconferencing Services, Ltd. doing 
business as Premiere Conferencing (“Premiere”) and the sale of its Canadian audiovisual integration services, OM Video, to 6351352 Canada Inc, a Canada corporation (the “OM 
Purchaser”). Accordingly, the results of operations and the financial position have been reclassified in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements as discontinued 
operations. Additionally, during fiscal 2001, the Company sold certain assets to Burk Technology, Inc. (“Burk”) whose sales proceeds are included with discontinued operations. 
Summary operating results of the discontinued operations are as follows:

Conferencing Services

On July 1, 2004, the Company sold its conferencing services business component to Premiere. Consideration for the sale consisted of $21,300 in cash. Of the purchase price, $300 was 
placed into a working capital escrow account and an additional $1,000 was placed into an 18-month Indemnity Escrow account. The Company received the $300 working capital escrow 
funds approximately 90 days after the execution date of the contract. The Company received the $1,000 in the Indemnity Escrow account in January 2006. Additionally, $1,365 of the 
proceeds was utilized to pay off equipment leases pertaining to assets being conveyed to Premiere. The Company reported pre-tax gain of $1,030 for the three and nine months ended 
March 31, 2006 due to the receipt of the $1,000 in the Indemnity Escrow account together with the $30 in related interest income. The Company realized a pre-tax gain on the sale of 
$17,369 during the nine months ended March 31, 2005.

CLEARONE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Unaudited)
(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)
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    Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
    March 31,   March 31,   March 31,   March 31,  
    2006   2005   2006   2005  
                   
Income from discontinued operations:                  

OM Video   $ -  $ 171  $ -  $ 225 
                       
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations:                      

Conferencing services business   $ 1,030  $ -  $ 1,030  $ 17,369 
OM Video     -      145     300     145  
Burk     -      187     1,346     187  

Total gain on disposal of discontinued operations     1,030     332     2,676     17,701  
                       
Income tax provision:                      

Conferencing services business   $ (384) $ -  $ (384) $ (3,991)

OM Video     -      (72)   (112)   (85)
Burk     -      (43)   (502)   (43)

Total income tax provision     (384)   (115)   (998)   (4,119)

                       
Total income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes:                      

Conferencing services business   $ 646  $ -  $ 646  $ 13,378 
OM Video     -      244     188     285  
Burk     -      144     844     144  

Total income from discontinued operations,                      
net of income taxes   $ 646  $ 388  $ 1,678  $ 13,807 
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OM Video

On March 4, 2005, the Company sold all of the issued and outstanding stock of its Canadian subsidiary, ClearOne Communications of Canada, Inc. (“ClearOne Canada”) to 6351352 
Canada Inc., a Canada corporation. ClearOne Canada owned all the issued and outstanding stock of Stechyson Electronics, Ltd., which conducts business under the name OM Video. 
The Company agreed to sell the stock of ClearOne Canada for $200 in cash; a $1,256 note receivable over a 15-month period, with interest accruing on the unpaid balance at the rate of 
5.3 percent per year; and contingent consideration ranging from 3.0 percent to 4.0 percent of related gross revenues over a five-year period. In June 2005, the Company was advised that 
the OM Purchaser had settled an action brought by the former employer of certain of OM Purchaser’s owners and employees alleging violation of non-competition agreements. The 
settlement reportedly involved a cash payment and an agreement not to sell certain products for a period of one year. Based on an analysis of the facts and circumstances that existed at 
the end of fiscal 2005, and considering the guidance from Topic 5U of the SEC Rules and Regulations, “Gain Recognition on the Sale of a Business or Operating Assets to a Highly 
Leveraged Entity,” the gain is being recognized as cash is collected (as collection was not reasonably assured). OM Video revenues, reported in discontinued operations, for the three 
months and nine months ended March 31, 2005 were $1,449 and $3,805, respectively. OM Video pre-tax income, reported in discontinued operations, for the three months and nine 
months ended March 31, 2005 was $171 and $225, respectively. OM Video pre-tax gain on disposal, reported in discontinued operations, for the three months and nine months ended 
March 31, 2006 was $0 and $300, respectively. OM Video pre-tax gain on disposal, reported in discontinued operations, for the three months and nine months ended March 31, 2005 was 
$145.

Through December 31, 2005, all payments required through such date had been received and $854 of the promissory note remained outstanding; however, OM Purchaser has failed to 
make any subsequent, required payments under the note receivable and is in default thereunder. The Company is currently considering its collection options. 

Burk

On August 22, 2005, the Company entered into a Mutual Release and Waiver Agreement with Burk pursuant to which Burk paid the Company $1,346 in full satisfaction of the 
promissory note, which included a discount of $119. As part of the Mutual Release and Waiver Agreement, the Company waived any right to future commission payments from Burk. 
Additionally, Burk and the Company granted mutual releases to one another with respect to future claims and liabilities. Accordingly, the total pre-tax gain on the disposal of 
discontinued operations, related to Burk, was approximately $2,419. The gain was recognized beginning in fiscal 2001. The Company realized pre-tax gain on the disposal of 
discontinued operations of $1,346 during the nine months ended March 31, 2006. The Company realized pre-tax gain on the disposal of discontinued operations of $187 for the three 
months and nine months ended March 31, 2005.

5. Income Taxes

During the three months ended March 31, 2006, the Company recorded a benefit for income taxes from continuing operations of $763. This compares to a provision for income taxes of 
($5) during the three months ended March 31, 2005. During the nine months ended March 31, 2006, the Company recorded a benefit for income taxes from continuing operations of 
$1,050. This compares to a benefit for income taxes of $29 during the nine months ended March 31, 2005. Taxes are based on the estimated annual effective tax rate. 

SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” requires that a valuation allowance be established when it is more likely than not that all or a portion of a deferred tax asset will not be 
realized. Valuation allowances were recorded in fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 due to the uncertainty of realization of the assets. As of March 31, 2006, the Company has recorded a 
valuation allowance against all of its net deferred tax assets. Based on the Company’s lack of cumulative profitability in recent years it is more likely than not that all of the net deferred 
tax assets will not be realized. 

CLEARONE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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6. Inventory

Inventories, net of reserves, consist of the following as of March 31, 2006 and June 30, 2005: 

Consigned inventory represents inventory at distributors and other customers where revenue recognition criteria have not been achieved. 

7. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following as of March 31, 2006 and June 30, 2005:

  

8. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company establishes contingent liabilities when a particular contingency is both probable and estimable. For the contingencies noted below, the Company has accrued amounts 
considered probable and estimable. The Company is not aware of pending claims or assessments, other than as described below, which may have a material adverse impact on the 
Company’s business, results of operations, financial position, or liquidity. 

Legal Proceedings. In addition to the legal proceedings described below, the Company is also involved from time to time in various claims and other legal proceedings which arise in 
the normal course of business. Such matters are subject to many uncertainties and outcomes that are not predictable. However, based on the information available to the Company as of 
June 15, 2006 and after discussions with legal counsel, the Company does not believe any such other proceedings will have a material, adverse effect on its business, results of 
operations, financial position, or liquidity, except as described below.

CLEARONE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
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    March 31,   June 30,  
    2006   2005  
           
Raw materials   $ 134  $ 1,804 
Finished goods     3,081     1,705  
Consigned inventory     2,443     2,297  

Total inventory   $ 5,658  $ 5,806 

    March 31,   June 30,  
    2006   2005  
Accrued salaries and other compensation   $ 748  $ 977 
Other accrued liabilities     962     1,049  
Class action settlement     -      3,596  

Total   $ 1,710  $ 5,622 
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The Shareholders’ Class Action. On June 30, 2003, a consolidated complaint was filed against the Company, eight present or former officers and directors of the Company, and Ernst & 
Young LLP (“Ernst & Young”), the Company’s former independent public accountants, by a class consisting of purchasers of the Company’s common stock during the period from 
April 17, 2001 through January 15, 2003. The action followed the consolidation of several previously filed class action complaints and the appointment of lead counsel for the class. The 
allegations in the complaint were essentially the same as those contained in an SEC complaint described in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 
2005. On December 4, 2003, the Company, on behalf of itself and all other defendants with the exception of Ernst & Young, entered into a settlement agreement with the class pursuant 
to which the Company agreed to pay the class $5,000 and to issue the class 1.2 million shares of its common stock. The cash payment was made in two equal installments, the first on 
November 10, 2003 (fiscal 2004) and the second on January 14, 2005 (fiscal 2005). On May 23, 2005, the court order was amended to require the Company to pay cash in lieu of stock to 
those members of the class who would otherwise have been entitled to receive fewer than 100 shares of stock. On September 29, 2005 (fiscal 2006), the Company completed its 
obligations under the settlement agreement by issuing a total of 1,148,494 shares of the Company’s common stock to the plaintiff class, including 228,000 shares previously issued in 
November 2004 (fiscal 2005), and the Company paid an aggregate of $127 in cash in lieu of shares to those members of the class who would otherwise have been entitled to receive an 
odd-lot number of shares or who resided in states in which there was no exemption available for the issuance of shares. The cash payments were calculated on the basis of $2.46 per 
share which was equal to the higher of (i) the closing price for the Company’s common stock as reported by the Pink Sheets on the business day prior to the date the shares were 
mailed, or (ii) the average closing price over the five trading days prior to such mailing date. The 920,494 shares that were issued on September 29, 2005 were also valued at $2.46 per 
share.

On a quarterly basis, the Company revalued the un-issued shares to the closing price of the stock on the later of the date the shares were mailed or the last day of the quarter. During 
the nine months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company received a benefit of $1,205 and $2,609, respectively, related to the revaluation of the 1.2 million shares of the Company’s 
common stock that were issued in November 2004 and September 2005. During the three months ended March 31, 2005, the Company received a benefit of $855. 

The Shareholder Derivative Actions. Between March and August 2003, four shareholder derivative actions were filed by certain shareholders of the Company against various present 
and past officers and directors of the Company and against Ernst & Young. The complaints asserted allegations similar to those asserted in an SEC complaint described in the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2005 and the shareholders’ class action described above and also alleged that the defendant directors and officers 
violated their fiduciary duties to the Company by causing or allowing the Company to recognize revenue in violation of generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and to issue 
materially misstated financial statements and that Ernst & Young breached its professional responsibilities to the Company and acted in violation of GAAP by failing to identify or 
prevent the alleged revenue recognition violations and by issuing unqualified audit opinions with respect to the Company’s fiscal 2002 and 2001 financial statements. One of these 
actions was dismissed without prejudice on June 13, 2003. As to the other three actions, the Company’s Board of Directors appointed a special litigation committee of independent 
directors to evaluate the claims made by these shareholders. That committee determined that the maintenance of the derivative proceedings against the individual defendants was not in 
the best interest of the Company. Accordingly, on December 12, 2003, the Company moved to dismiss those claims. In March 2004, the Company’s motions to dismiss those claims were 
granted and the derivative claims were dismissed with prejudice as to all defendants except Ernst & Young. The Company was substituted as the plaintiff in the action and is now 
pursuing in its own name the claims against Ernst & Young. 
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The Insurance Coverage Action. On February 9, 2004, the Company and Edward Dallin Bagley, the Chairman of the Board of Directors and a significant shareholder of the Company, 
jointly filed an action against National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania (“National Union”) and Lumbermens Mutual Insurance Company of Berkeley 
Heights, New Jersey (“Lumbermens Mutual”), the carriers of certain prior period directors and officers’ liability insurance policies, to recover the costs of defending and resolving 
claims against certain of the Company’s present and former directors and officers in connection with an SEC complaint described in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended June 30, 2005, and the shareholders’ class action and the shareholder derivative actions described above, and seeking other damages resulting from the refusal of such 
carriers to timely pay the amounts owing under such liability insurance policies. This action has been consolidated into a declaratory relief action filed by one of the insurance carriers 
on February 6, 2004 against the Company and certain of its current and former directors. In this relief action, the insurers assert that they are entitled to rescind insurance coverage 
under the Company’s directors and officers liability insurance policies, $3,000 of which was provided by National Union and $2,000 of which was provided by Lumbermens Mutual, 
based on alleged misstatements in the Company’s insurance applications. In February 2005, the Company entered into a confidential settlement agreement with Lumbermens Mutual 
pursuant to which the Company and Mr. Bagley received a lump-sum cash amount and the plaintiffs agreed to dismiss their claims against Lumbermens Mutual with prejudice. The cash 
settlement is held in a segregated account that has not been recorded in the accompanying financial statements and will not be until the claims involving National Union have been 
resolved, at which time the amounts received in the action will be allocated between the Company and Mr. Bagley. The amount distributed to the Company and Mr. Bagley will be 
determined based on future negotiations between the Company and Mr. Bagley. The Company cannot currently estimate the amount of the settlement which it will ultimately receive. 
Upon determining the amount of the settlement which the Company will ultimately receive, the Company will record this as a contingent gain. On October 21, 2005, the court granted 
summary judgment in favor of National Union on its rescission defense and accordingly entered a judgment dismissing all of the claims asserted by ClearOne and Mr. Bagley. In 
connection with the summary judgment, the Company has been ordered to pay approximately $59 in expenses. However, due to the Lumbermans Mutual cash proceeds discussed 
above and the appeal of the summary judgment discussed below, this potential liability has not been recorded in the balance sheet as of March 31, 2006. On February 2, 2006, the 
Company and Mr. Bagley filed an appeal of the summary judgment granted on October 21, 2005 and intend to vigorously pursue the appeal and any follow-up proceedings regarding 
their claims against National Union, although no assurances can be given that they will be successful. The Company and Mr. Bagley have entered into a Joint Prosecution and Defense 
Agreement in connection with the action and the Company is paying all litigation expenses except litigation expenses which are solely related to Mr. Bagley’s claims in the litigation. 

Wells Submission. The Company had been advised by the staff of the Salt Lake District Office of the SEC that the staff intended to recommend to the Commission that administrative 
proceedings be instituted to revoke the registration of the Company’s common stock based on the Company’s failure to timely file annual and quarterly reports with the Commission. 
The Company provided the staff with a so-called “Wells Submission” setting forth its position with respect to the staff’s intended recommendation. To date, the Commission has not 
instituted an administrative proceeding against the Company; however, there can be no assurance that the Commission will not institute an administrative proceeding in the future or 
that the Company would prevail if an administrative proceeding were instituted. 
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9. Share-Based Payment  

Our share-based compensation primarily consists of the following plans: 

The Company’s 1990 Incentive Plan (the “1990 Plan”) had shares of common stock available for issuance to employees and directors. Provisions of the 1990 Plan included the granting 
of stock options. Generally, stock options vested over a five-year period at 10 percent, 15 percent, 20 percent, 25 percent, and 30 percent per year. Certain other stock options vested in 
full after eight years. During the nine months ended March 31, 2006, the 30,750 options outstanding under the 1990 Plan as of June 30, 2005 expired and were canceled. As of March 31, 
2006, there were no options outstanding under the 1990 Plan and no additional options were available for grant under such plan.  

The Company also has a 1998 Stock Option Plan (the “1998 Plan”). Provisions of the 1998 Plan include the granting of incentive and non-qualified stock options. Options may be 
granted to directors, officers, and key employees and may be granted upon such terms as the Board of Directors, in their sole discretion, determine. Through December 1999, 1,066,000 
options were granted that would cliff vest after 9.8 years; however, such vesting was accelerated for 637,089 of these options upon meeting certain earnings per share goals through the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2003. Subsequent to December 1999 and through June 2002, 1,248,250 options were granted that would cliff vest after 6.0 years; however, such vesting was 
accelerated for 300,494 of these options upon meeting certain earnings per share goals through the fiscal year ended June 30, 2005. As of March 31, 2006, 53,600 and 202,060 of these 
options that cliff vest after 9.8 and 6.0 years, respectively, remain outstanding.

Of the options granted subsequent to June 2002, all vesting schedules are based on 3 or 4-year vesting schedules, with either one-third or one-fourth vesting on the first anniversary 
and the remaining options vesting ratably over the remainder of the vesting term. Generally, directors and officers have 3-year vesting schedules and all other employees have 4-year 
vesting schedules. All options have contractual lives of ten years. Under the 1998 Plan, 2,500,000 shares were authorized for grant. The 1998 Plan expires June 10, 2008, or when all the 
shares available under the plan have been issued if this occurs earlier. As of March 31, 2006, there were 1,241,879 options outstanding under the 1998 Plan, which includes the cliff 
vesting and 3 or 4-year vesting options discussed above, and 955,997 options available for grant in the future. 

In addition to the two stock option plans, the Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). Employees can purchase common stock through payroll deductions of up to 10 
percent of their base pay. Amounts deducted and accumulated by the employees are used to purchase shares of common stock on the last day of each month. The Company 
contributes to the account of the employee one share of common stock for every nine shares purchased by the employee under the ESPP. The program was suspended during fiscal 
2003 due to the Company’s failure to remain current in its filing of periodic reports with the SEC. 

Prior to July 1, 2005, the Company accounted for compensation expense associated with its stock options under the intrinsic value method in Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) 
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized for the Company’s unmodified stock options in its condensed 
consolidated financial statements for the three months and nine months ended March 31, 2005. 

Effective July 1, 2005, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment.” The Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123R using the modified 
prospective transition method. Under this transition method, stock-based compensation cost recognized beginning July 1, 2005 includes the straight-line compensation cost for (a) all 
share-based payments granted prior to July 1, 2005, but not yet vested, based on the grant date fair values used in the pro-forma disclosures under the original SFAS No. 123 and (b) all 
share-based payments granted on or after July 1, 2005, in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123R.  
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The Company uses judgment in determining the fair value of the share-based payments on the date of grant using an option-pricing model with assumptions regarding a number of 
highly complex and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, the risk-free interest rate of the awards, the expected life of the awards, the expected volatility 
over the term of the awards, the expected dividends of the awards, and an estimate of the amount of awards that are expected to be forfeited. The Company uses the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model to determine the fair value of share-based payments granted under SFAS No. 123R and the original SFAS No. 123.  

In applying the Black-Scholes methodology to the options granted during the three months and nine months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company used the following 
assumptions:

The risk-free interest rate is determined using the U.S. Treasury rate in effect as of the date of the grant, based on the expected life of the stock option. The expected life of the stock 
option is determined using historical data. The expected price volatility is determined using a weighted average of daily historical volatility of the Company’s stock price over the 
corresponding expected option life. The Company does not currently intend to distribute any dividend payments to shareholders. The Company recognizes compensation cost net of 
an expected forfeiture rate and recognized the associated compensation cost for only those awards expected to vest on a straight-line basis over the underlying requisite service period. 
The Company estimated the forfeiture rates based on its historical experience and expectations about future forfeitures. The Company determined the annual forfeiture rate for options 
that will cliff vest after 9.8 or 6.0 years to be 38.0 percent and the annual forfeiture rate for options that vest on 3 or 4-year vesting schedules to be 10.0 percent. 

In the three months ended March 31, 2006, the adoption of SFAS No. 123R resulted in incremental, pre-tax, stock-based compensation cost of $260. For the three months ended March 
31, 2006, the Company expensed $12 in cost of goods sold, $25 in marketing and selling, $179 in general and administrative, and $44 in research and product development expense 
related to the transition to SFAS No. 123R. The stock-based compensation cost associated with adoption of SFAS No. 123R reduced net operating income for the three months ended 
March 31, 2006 by $260, decreased net income by $32, and reduced basic and diluted earnings per share by $0.00 per share. The total income tax provision (benefit) related to share-
based compensation for the three months ended March 31, 2006 was ($228) and is shown as a cash flow from operating activities in our cash flow statement. 
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    Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
    March 31,   March 31,   March 31,   March 31,  
    2006   2005   2006   2005  
Risk-free interest rate, average     4.0%     4.0%     4.3%     4.1%  
Expected option life, average     5.9 years     5.8 years     5.9 years     5.8 years  
Expected price volatility, average     86.5%     91.2%     87.4%     92.3%  
Expected dividend yield     0.0%     0.0%     0.0%     0.0%  
Expected annual forfeiture rate     10.0%     0.0%     10.0%     0.0%  
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In the nine months ended March 31, 2006, the adoption of SFAS No. 123R resulted in incremental, pre-tax, stock-based compensation cost of $874. For the nine months ended March 31, 
2006, the Company expensed $36 in cost of goods sold, $75 in marketing and selling, $598 in general and administrative, and $131 in research and product development expense, and $34 
in other income (expense) related to the transition to SFAS No. 123R. The stock-based compensation cost associated with adoption of SFAS No. 123R reduced net operating income for 
the nine months ended March 31, 2006 by $874, decreased net income by $473, and reduced basic and diluted earnings per share by $0.04 per share. The total income tax provision 
(benefit) related to share-based compensation for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 was ($401) and is shown as a cash flow from operating activities in our cash flow statement. 
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    Three Months Ended  
    March 31,  
    2006  
           
        SFAS  
        No. 123R  
        Compensation  
    As Reported   Expense  
           
Revenue   $ 8,700  $ - 
Cost of goods sold     4,625     12  
Gross profit     4,075     (12)

Operating expenses:            
Marketing and selling     1,920     25  
General and administrative     1,060     179  
Settlement in shareholders' class action     -      -   
Research and product development     2,201     44  

Total operating expenses     5,181     248  
Operating (loss) income     (1,106)   (260)
Other income (expense), net     237     -   
(Loss) income from continuing operations before income taxes     (869)   (260)
Benefit for income taxes     763     228  
(Loss) income from continuing operations     (106)   (32)

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax     646     -   

Net income   $ 540  $ (32)

             
Basic earnings (loss) per common share:            

Continuing operations   $ (0.01) $ - 
Discontinued operations     0.05     -   

Net income     0.04     -   
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share:            

Continuing operations   $ (0.01) $ - 
Discontinued operations     0.05     -   

Net income     0.04     -   
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As of March 31, 2006, the total compensation cost related to unvested stock options not yet recognized was $1,164, which is expected to be recognized over the next 3.9 years on a 
straight-line basis.  

The weighted-average estimated fair value of the stock options granted during the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 was $2.08 and $3.03, per share, respectively. The 
weighted-average estimated fair value of the stock options granted during the nine months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 was $1.89 and $3.84, per share, respectively. 
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    Nine Months Ended  
    March 31,  
    2006  
           
        SFAS  
        No. 123R  
        Compensation  
    As Reported   Expense  
           
Revenue   $ 27,902  $ - 
Cost of goods sold     14,213     36  
Gross profit     13,689     (36)

Operating expenses:            
Marketing and selling     5,542     75  
General and administrative     4,288     598  
Settlement in shareholders' class action     (1,205)   -   
Research and product development     5,778     131  

Total operating expenses     14,403     804  
Operating (loss) income     (714)   (840)
Other income (expense), net     594     (34)

(Loss) income from continuing operations before income taxes     (120)   (874)
Benefit for income taxes     1,050     401  
Income from continuing operations     930     (473)

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax     1,678     -   

Net income   $ 2,608  $ (473)

             
Basic earnings per common share:            

Continuing operations   $ 0.08  $ 0.04 
Discontinued operations     0.14     -   

Net income     0.22     0.04  
Diluted earnings per common share:            

Continuing operations   $ 0.08  $ 0.04 
Discontinued operations     0.14     -   

Net income     0.21     0.04  
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The following table shows the stock option activity for the nine months ended March 31, 2006.

Due to the Company’s failure to remain current in its filing of periodic reports with the SEC, employees, executive officers, and directors are currently not allowed to exercise options 
under the 1998 Plan. Since December 2003, individual grants that had been affected by this situation were modified to extend the exercise period of the option through the date the 
Company becomes current in its filings with the SEC and options again become exercisable. Since July 1, 2005, modifications of stock option grants include the extension of the post-
service exercise period of vested options held by persons who have ceased to remain employed by the Company. Compensation cost is recognized immediately for options that are fully 
vested on the date of modification. In the three months ended March 31, 2006, the Company expensed $0 in compensation cost associated with these modifications. In the nine months 
ended March 31, 2006, the Company expensed $15 in compensation cost associated with these modifications. These costs are included in the $260 and $874 of SFAS No. 123R 
compensation expense disclosed above for the three-month and nine-month periods ended March 31, 2006, respectively. 
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Stock Options

 
Number of 

Shares  

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price  

Weighted 
Remaining 
Contractual 
Term (years)  

Aggregate 
Intrinsic Value  

                   
Outstanding at June 30, 2005     1,493,112   $ 6.21           
                       

Granted     27,000     2.52            
Expired and canceled     (117,603)   3.55            
Forfeited prior to vesting     (160,630)   8.26            
Exercised     -      -         $ - 

Outstanding at March 31, 2006     1,241,879     6.11     7.0 years  $ 170 
Exercisable     817,764     5.89     6.8 years  $ 105 

Non-vested Shares 
  Number of 

Shares  

Weighted 
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value  

           
Non-vested at June 30, 2005     802,400   $ 4.73 
             

Granted     27,000     1.89  
Vested     (244,655)   3.63  
Forfeited prior to vesting     (160,630)   6.04  

Non-vested at March 31, 2006     424,115   $ 4.68 
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10. Segment and Geographic Information 

During fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005, all revenue and income (loss) from continuing operations was included in the product segment. Additionally, the United States was the only country 
to contribute more than 10 percent of total revenues in each fiscal year. The Company’s revenues are substantially denominated in U.S. dollars and are summarized geographically as 
follows:

11. Manufacturing Transition

In May 2005, the Company approved an impairment action and a restructuring action in connection with its decision to outsource its Salt Lake City manufacturing operations. These 
actions were intended to improve the overall cost structure for the product segment by focusing resources on other strategic areas of the business. The Company recorded an 
impairment charge of $180 and a restructuring charge of $110 during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2005 as a result of these actions. These charges were disclosed separately in the 
consolidated statements of operations. The impairment charge consisted of an immediate impairment of certain property and equipment of $180 that had value to the Company while it 
manufactured product but that was not purchased by Third Party Manufacturer (“TPM”) and at the time were not considered likely to be sold. These assets would have remained in 
service had the Company not outsourced its manufacturing operations. The restructuring charge also consisted of severance and other employee termination benefits of $70 related to a 
workforce reduction of approximately 20 employees who were transferred to an employment agency used by TPM to transition the workforce and a charge of $40 related to the 
operating lease for the Company’s manufacturing facilities that would no longer be used by the Company. All severance payments were paid by December 31, 2005. 
  
The following table summarizes changes in the Company’s restructuring charge liabilities during the nine months ended March 31, 2006: 
  

On August 1, 2005, the Company entered into a Manufacturing Agreement with TPM pursuant to which the Company agreed to outsource its Salt Lake City manufacturing operations. 
The parties also entered into a one-year sublease for approximately 12,000 square feet of manufacturing space located in the Company's headquarters in Salt Lake City, Utah. TPM paid 
$11 per month under the sublease through May 31, 2006 when the sublease was terminated. 
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    Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
    March 31,   March 31,   March 31,   March 31,  
    2006   2005   2006   2005  
                   
United States   $ 5,878  $ 5,189  $ 20,526  $ 16,436 
All other countries     2,822     1,914     7,376     6,106  

Total   $ 8,700  $ 7,103  $ 27,902  $ 22,542 

 
 

Severance  

Manufacturing 
Facilities 

Lease   Total  
               
Balance at June 30, 2005   $ 70  $ 40  $ 110 

Utilized     (70)   (89)   (159)

Sublease payments received     -      88     88  

Balance at March 31, 2006   $ -  $ 39  $ 39 
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12. Settlement Agreement and Release

The Company entered into a settlement agreement and release with its former Vice-President - Human Resources in connection with the cessation of her employment, which generally 
provided for her resignation from her position and employment with the Company, the payment of severance, and a general release of claims against the Company by her. On February 
20, 2006, an agreement was entered into which generally provided for a severance payment of $93 and her surrender and delivery to the Company of 145,000 stock options (86,853 of 
which were vested).

13. Subsequent Events 

Sale of OM Video. Through December 31, 2005, all payments due under the note receivable through such date had been received and $854 of the promissory note remained 
outstanding; however, OM Purchaser has failed to make any subsequent, required payments under the note receivable and is in default thereunder. The Company is currently 
considering its collection options.
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The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes to condensed consolidated financial 
statements included in this Form 10-Q and our audited consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2005 filed with 
the SEC and management’s discussion and analysis contained therein. This discussion contains forward-looking statements based on current expectations that involve risks and 
uncertainties, such as our plans, objectives, expectations, and intentions, as set forth under “Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” Our actual results and the timing 
of events could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth in the following discussion and 
under the caption “Risk Factors” in Part II, Item 1A, as well as other information found in the documents we file from time to time with the SEC. Unless otherwise indicated, all 
references to a year reflect our fiscal year that ends on June 30.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 
Our discussion and analysis of our results of operations and financial condition are based upon our condensed consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in 
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. We review the accounting policies used in reporting our financial results on a regular basis. The preparation of these 
financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. We evaluate our assumptions and estimates on an ongoing basis 
and may employ outside experts to assist in our evaluations. We believe that the estimates we use are reasonable; however, actual results could differ from those estimates. We believe 
the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant assumptions and estimates that we used to prepare our condensed consolidated financial statements. 
 
Revenue and Associated Allowances for Revenue Adjustments and Doubtful Accounts

 
Included in continuing operations is product revenue, primarily from product sales to distributors, dealers, and end-users. Product revenue is recognized when (i) the products are 
shipped and any right of return expires, (ii) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (iii) the price is fixed and determinable, and (iv) collection is reasonably assured.  

We provide a right of return on product sales to distributors. Currently, we do not have sufficient historical return experience with our distributors that is predictive of future events 
given historical excess levels of inventory in the distribution channel. Accordingly, revenue from product sales to distributors is not recognized until the return privilege has expired, 
which approximates when product is sold-through to customers of the Company’s distributors (dealers, system integrators, value-added resellers, and end-users) rather than when the 
product is initially shipped to a distributor. We evaluate, at each quarter-end, the inventory in the channel through information provided by certain of our distributors. The level of 
inventory in the channel will fluctuate up or down, each quarter, based upon our distributors’ individual operations. Accordingly, each quarter-end revenue deferral is calculated and 
recorded based upon the underlying, estimated channel inventory at quarter-end. Although, certain distributors provide certain channel inventory amounts, we make judgments and 
estimates with regard to the amount of inventory in the entire channel, for all customers and for all channel inventory items, and the appropriate revenue and cost of goods 
sold associated with those channel products. Although these assumptions and judgments regarding total channel inventory revenue and cost of goods sold could differ from actual 
amounts, we believe that our calculations are indicative of actual levels of inventory in the distribution channel.  As of March 31, 2005, the Company deferred $5.5 million in revenue and 
$2.3 million in cost of goods sold related to products sold where return rights had not lapsed. As of March 31, 2006, the Company deferred $5.4 million in revenue and $2.4 million in cost 
of goods sold related to products sold where return rights had not lapsed. The amounts of deferred cost of goods sold were included in consigned inventory. The following table 
details the amount of deferred revenue, cost of goods sold, and gross profit at each period end for the 21-month period ended March 31, 2006 (in thousands). 
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We offer rebates and market development funds to certain of our distributors and direct dealers/resellers based upon volume of product purchased by them. We record rebates as a 
reduction of revenue in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 00-22, “Accounting for Points and Certain Other Time-Based or Volume-Based Sales Incentive 
Offers, and Offers for Free Products or Services to Be Delivered in the Future.” Beginning January 1, 2002, we adopted EITF Issue No. 01-9, “Accounting for Consideration Given by a 
Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products).” We continue to record rebates as a reduction of revenue in the period revenue is recognized. 

We offer credit terms on the sale of our products to a majority of our customers and perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers’ financial condition. We maintain an allowance 
for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability or unwillingness of our customers to make required payments based upon our historical collection experience and 
expected collectibility of all accounts receivable. Our actual bad debts in future periods may differ from our current estimates and the differences may be material, which may have an 
adverse impact on our future accounts receivable and cash position.

Goodwill and Purchased Intangibles

 
We assess the impairment of goodwill and other identifiable intangibles annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be 
recoverable. Some factors we consider important which could trigger an impairment review include the following:

If we determine that the carrying value of goodwill and other identified intangibles may not be recoverable based upon the existence of one or more of the above indicators of 
impairment, we would typically measure any impairment based on a projected discounted cash flow method using a discount rate determined by us to be commensurate with the risk 
inherent in our current business model. We evaluate goodwill for impairment at least annually. 

We plan to conduct our annual impairment tests in the fourth quarter of every fiscal year, unless impairment indicators exist sooner. Screening for and assessing whether impairment 
indicators exist or if events or changes in circumstances have occurred, including market conditions, operating fundamentals, competition, and general economic conditions, requires 
significant judgment. Additionally, changes in the high-technology industry occur frequently and quickly. Therefore, there can be no assurance that a charge to operations will not 
occur as a result of future purchased intangible impairment tests.
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  Deferred 

Revenue  

Deferred 
Cost of 

Goods Sold  
Deferred 

Gross Profit 
               
March 31, 2006   $ 5,355  $ 2,443  $ 2,912 
December 31, 2005     4,936     2,199     2,737  
September 30, 2005     4,848     2,373     2,475  
June 30, 2005     5,055     2,297     2,758  
March 31, 2005     5,456     2,321     3,135  
December 31, 2004     4,742     1,765     2,977  
September 30, 2004     5,617     1,920     3,697  
June 30, 2004     6,107     2,381     3,726  

·   Significant underperformance relative to projected future operating results; 
·   Significant changes in the manner of our use of the acquired assets or the strategy for our overall business; and 
·   Significant negative industry or economic trends. 
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

We assess the impairment of long-lived assets, such as property and equipment and definite-lived intangibles subject to amortization, annually or whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of 
an asset or asset group to estimated future undiscounted net cash flows of the related asset or group of assets over their remaining lives. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
estimated future undiscounted cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair value of the asset. Impairment of 
long-lived assets is assessed at the lowest levels for which there are identifiable cash flows that are independent of other groups of assets. The impairment of long-lived assets requires 
judgments and estimates. If circumstances change, such estimates could also change. Assets held for sale are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value, less the 
estimated costs to sell.

Accounting for Income Taxes 

We are subject to income taxes in both the United States and in certain non-U.S. jurisdictions. We estimate our current tax position together with our future tax consequences 
attributable to temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items, such as deferred revenue, depreciation, and other reserves for tax and accounting purposes. These 
temporary differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities. We must then assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income, prior year 
carryback, or future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences. To the extent we believe that recovery is not more likely than not, we establish a valuation allowance against 
these deferred tax assets. Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities, and any valuation allowance 
recorded against our deferred tax assets. To the extent we establish a valuation allowance in a period, we must include an expense for the allowance within the tax provision in the 
condensed consolidated statement of operations. The reversal of a previously established valuation allowance results in a benefit for income taxes. 

Lower-of-Cost or Market Adjustments and Reserves for Excess and Obsolete Inventory 

We account for our inventory on a first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) basis, and make appropriate adjustments on a quarterly basis to write down the value of inventory to the lower-of-cost or 
market. 

In order to determine what, if any, inventory needs to be written down, we perform a quarterly analysis of obsolete and slow-moving inventory. In general, we write down our excess 
and obsolete inventory by an amount that is equal to the difference between the cost of the inventory and its estimated market value if market value is less than cost, based upon 
assumptions about future product life-cycles, product demand, or market conditions. Those items that are found to have a supply in excess of our estimated demand are considered to 
be slow-moving or obsolete and the appropriate reserve is made to write down the value of that inventory to its realizable value. These charges are recorded in cost of goods sold. At 
the point of the loss recognition, a new, lower-cost basis for that inventory is established and subsequent changes in facts and circumstances do not result in the restoration or 
increase in that newly established cost basis. If there were to be a sudden and significant decrease in demand for our products, or if there were a higher incidence of inventory 
obsolescence because of rapidly changing technology and customer requirements, we could be required to increase our inventory allowances, and our gross profit could be adversely 
affected.

Share-Based Payment 

Prior to June 30, 2005 and as permitted under the original SFAS No. 123, we accounted for our share-based payments following the recognition and measurement principles of 
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” as interpreted. Accordingly, no share-based compensation expense had been reflected in 
our statements of operations for unmodified option grants since (1) the exercise price equaled the market value of the underlying common stock on the grant date and (2) the related 
number of shares to be granted upon exercise of the stock option was fixed on the grant date.
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In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment.” SFAS No. 123R is a revision of SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 123R establishes standards for the accounting 
for transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods or services. Primarily, SFAS No. 123R focuses on accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains 
employee services in share-based payment transactions. It also addresses transactions in which an entity incurs liabilities in exchange for goods or services that are based on the fair 
value of the entity’s equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of those equity instruments. 

Under SFAS No. 123R, we measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant date fair value of the award (with limited 
exceptions). That cost will be recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the awards - the requisite service period (usually the 
vesting period). No compensation cost is recognized for equity instruments for which employees do not render the requisite service. Therefore, if an employee does not ultimately 
render the requisite service, the costs associated with the unvested options will not be recognized, cumulatively.

Effective July 1, 2005, we adopted SFAS No. 123R and its fair value recognition provisions using the modified prospective transition method. Under this transition method, stock-based 
compensation cost recognized after July 1, 2005 includes the straight-line basis compensation cost for (a) all share-based payments granted prior to July 1, 2005, but not yet vested, 
based on the grant date fair values used for the pro-forma disclosures under the original SFAS No. 123 and (b) all share-based payments granted or modified on or after July 1, 2005, in 
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123R.

Under SFAS No. 123R, we recognize compensation cost net of an anticipated forfeiture rate and recognize the associated compensation cost for those awards expected to vest on a 
straight-line basis over the requisite service period. We use judgment in determining the fair value of the share-based payments on the date of grant using an option-pricing model with 
assumptions regarding a number of highly complex and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, the risk-free interest rate of the awards, the expected life of 
the awards, the expected volatility over the term of the awards, the expected dividends of the awards, and an estimate of the amount of awards that are expected to be forfeited. If 
assumptions change in the application of SFAS No. 123R in future periods, the stock-based compensation cost ultimately recorded under SFAS No. 123R may differ significantly from 
what was recorded in the current period.

SEASONALITY

Our audio conferencing products revenue has historically been strongest during our second and fourth quarters. Our camera product line revenue is usually strongest during the third 
and fourth quarters. There can be no assurance that any historic sales patterns will continue and, as a result, sales for any prior quarter are not necessarily indicative of the sales to be 
expected in any future quarter. 

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We are an audio conferencing products company. We develop, manufacture, market, and service a comprehensive line of audio conferencing products, which range from tabletop 
conferencing phones to professionally installed audio systems. We believe we have a strong history of product innovation and plan to continue to apply our expertise in audio 
engineering to developing innovative new products. The performance and reliability of our high-quality solutions create a natural communication environment, which saves 
organizations of all sizes time and money by enabling more effective and efficient communication between geographically separated businesses, employees, and customers.  
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DISCUSSION OF OPERATIONS

Results of Operations for the three months and nine months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005 

 
The following table sets forth certain items from our unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations (in thousands) for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2006 
and 2005, together with the percentage of total revenue which each such item represents:

Our revenue increased 22.5 percent from the three months ended March 31, 2005 to the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 23.8 percent from the nine months ended March 31, 2005 
to the nine months ended March 31, 2006. During the nine months ended March 31, 2006, we introduced several new products, including the Converge 560/590 and Tabletop Controller 
for XAP in our professional conferencing product line and the expansion of our MAX® tabletop audio conferencing products with the Max IP and MaxAttach IP. During the nine 
months ended March 31, 2005, we introduced several new products, including the RAV in our premium conferencing product line and the expansion of our MAX® tabletop audio 
conferencing product line with the MaxAttach. For the three and nine months ended March 31, 2006 our settlement in shareholders’ class action expense (benefit) decreased $855,000 
and $1.4 million, respectively, from the same periods in fiscal 2005 due to a quarterly mark-to-market adjustment of the liability associated with our December 2003 settlement agreement, 
while research and development expense for the three and nine months ended March 31, 2006 increased primarily due to salaries and benefit-related costs, including compensation cost 
related to SFAS No. 123R, over the same periods in fiscal 2005. Our marketing and selling costs decreased during the nine months ended March 31, 2006 over the same periods in fiscal 
2005 primarily due to the cost savings associated with the closing of our Germany sales office. Our income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes decreased 
approximately $881,000 for the three months and $41,000 for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 over the same periods in fiscal 2005. 

The following is a discussion of our results of operations for our three and nine months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005. All items are discussed on a consolidated basis. 
 

Filer: ClearOne Communications, Inc. Form Type: 10-Q Period: 03-31-2006 Job Number: form10q03312006 Rev: 1 Sequence: 30

Project: form10-q03312006.pdml Document Name: form10-q03312006.htm Saved: 6/28/2006 15:23:33 Printed: 6/28/2006 15:23:48

clearone communications, inc. Description: ClearOne Communications, Inc. Form 10-Q For the Period Ended 03/31/2006 Created using EDGARizer HTML

    Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
    (in thousands)   (in thousands)  
    March 31,   March 31,   March 31,   March 31,  
    2006   2005   2006   2005  

       
% of 

Revenue      
% of 

Revenue      
% of 

Revenue      
% of 

Revenue  
                                   
Revenue   $ 8,700    100.0%   $ 7,103    100.0%   $ 27,902    100.0%   $ 22,542    100.0%  
Cost of goods sold     4,625     53.2%     3,180     44.8%     14,213     50.9%     10,925     48.5%  
Gross profit     4,075     46.8%     3,923     55.2%     13,689     49.1%     11,617     51.5%  
Operating expenses:                                          

Marketing and selling     1,920     22.1%     2,151     30.3%     5,542     19.9%     6,578     29.2%  
General and administrative     1,060     12.2%     1,287     18.1%     4,288     15.4%     4,110     18.2%  
Settlement in shareholders' class action     -      0.0%     (855)   -12.0%     (1,205)   -4.3%     (2,609)   -11.6%  
Research and product development     2,201     25.3%     1,423     20.0%     5,778     20.7%     3,810     16.9%  

Total operating expenses     5,181     59.6%     4,006     56.4%     14,403     51.6%     11,889     52.7%  
Operating income (loss)     (1,106)   -12.7%     (83)   -1.2%     (714)   -2.6%     (272)   -1.2%  
Other income (expense), net     237     2.7%     95     1.3%     594     2.1%     193     0.9%  
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes     (869)   -10.0%     12     0.2%     (120)   -0.4%     (79)   -0.4%  
Benefit (provision) for income taxes     763     8.8%     (5)   -0.1%     1,050     3.8%     29     0.1%  
Income (loss) from continuing operations     (106)   -1.2%     7     0.1%     930     3.3%     (50)   -0.2%  
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax     646     7.4%     388     5.5%     1,678     6.0%     13,807     61.3%  
Net income (loss)   $ 540    6.2%   $ 395    5.6%   $ 2,608    9.3%   $ 13,757    61.0%  

 

30



Three Months Ended March 31, 2006 (“Third Quarter of Fiscal 2006”) 
Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2005 (“Third Quarter of Fiscal 2005”) 

Revenue

 
Our revenues were $8.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2006 compared to revenues of $7.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005. Total revenues increased 
$1.6 million, or 22.5 percent, in the three months ended March 31, 2006 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2005. The increase in revenue was mostly due to continued 
growth in premium and tabletop conferencing products sales of approximately $800,000, professional audio conferencing products sales of approximately $725,000, and sales in other 
product lines of approximately $200,000 partially offset by a decrease in camera product sales of approximately $125,000.  

We evaluate, at each quarter-end, the inventory in the channel through information provided by certain of our distributors.  The level of inventory in the channel will fluctuate up or 
down, each quarter, based upon our distributors’ individual operations.  Accordingly, each quarter-end revenue deferral is calculated and recorded based upon the underlying, 
estimated channel inventory at quarter-end.  During the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, the net change in deferred revenue based on the net movement of inventory in the 
channel was a net (deferral) recognition of ($419,000) and ($714,000) in revenue, respectively.

The following table indicates the number of individual unit shipments to our distributors for certain of our product lines for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005. Due to our 
current revenue recognition policy, the figures do not tie directly to recognized revenues because revenues are recognized when the return rights lapse rather than at the time of 
shipment.

Total revenues from sales outside of the United States accounted for 32.4 percent of total revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 26.9 percent of total revenue for the 
three months ended March 31, 2005.

Costs of Goods Sold and Gross Profit

Costs of goods sold (“COGS”) from the product segment includes expenses associated with finished goods purchased from outsourced manufacturers, the manufacture of our 
products, including material and direct labor, our manufacturing and operations organization, property and equipment depreciation, warranty expense, freight expense, royalty 
payments, and the allocation of overhead expenses. 

The following table shows our COGS and gross profit together with each item’s amount as a percentage of total revenue: 
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  Three Months Ended March 31,

  (by individual unit)

  2006 2005

Professional audio conferencing 2,889 2,884
Premium and tabletop conferencing 7,725 3,019

    Three Months Ended March 31,  
    (in thousands)  
    2006   2005  

       
% of 

Revenue      
% of 

Revenue  
                   
Cost of goods sold   $ 4,625    53.2%   $ 3,180    44.8%  

                       
Gross profit   $ 4,075    46.8%   $ 3,923    55.2%  
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COGS increased by $1.4 million, or 45.4 percent, to $4.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2006 compared with $3.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005. The 
increase in COGS from the three months ended March 31, 2005 to the three months ended March 31, 2006 was primarily attributable to the mix and magnitude of the $1.6 million or 22.5 
percent increase in total revenue, an incremental deferral of $312,000 less during the three months ended March 31, 2006 versus the three months ended March 31, 2005 in the deferred 
COGS where return rights had not lapsed, and a $135,000 increase in our write off of product inventory.

COGS for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, include $244,000 and $556,000 in net increases related to the deferral of product revenue from the respective deferral at 
December 31, 2005 and 2004 because return rights had not lapsed. 

Our gross profit from continuing operations was $4.1 million, or 46.8 percent of revenue, for the three months ended March 31, 2006 compared to $3.9 million, or 55.2 percent of revenue, 
for the three months ended March 31, 2005. The decrease in gross profit percentage is mostly due to the increase in revenue mix from sales of premium and tabletop conferencing 
products which have a lower gross profit margin than our professional conferencing products and the change in deferred gross profit where return rights had not lapsed from a net 
reduction in gross profit of ($158,000) during the three months ended March 31, 2005 to a net reduction in gross profit of ($175,000) during the three months ended March 31, 2006. The 
change in gross profit was also negatively impacted by reduced prices on certain end-of-life products. During the past seven quarters, the gross profit percentage has ranged from a 
high of 55.8 percent in the three months ended June 30, 2005 to a low of 43.7 percent for the three months ended September 30, 2004. We believe quarterly fluctuations will continue to 
occur based upon actual product mix.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses were $5.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2006, an increase of $1.2 million, or 29.3 percent, from $4.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 
2005. The increase in operating expenses from the levels for the three months ended March 31, 2005 to the levels for the three months ended March 31, 2006 is primarily related to the 
elimination of benefit related to the settlement in the shareholders’ class action, increased research and product development expenses, and the introduction of compensation cost 
related to SFAS No. 123R, partially offset by decreased spending in marketing and selling expenses and general and administrative expenses. The following is a more detailed discussion 
of expenses related to marketing and selling, general and administrative, settlement in shareholders’ class action, and research and product development.  

Marketing and selling expenses. Marketing and selling expenses include selling, customer service, and marketing expenses such as employee-related costs, allocations of overhead 
expenses, trade shows, and other advertising and selling expenses. Total marketing and selling expenses decreased $231,000, or 10.7 percent, to $1.9 million for the three months ended 
March 31, 2006 compared with the three months ended March 31, 2005 expenses of $2.2 million. As a percentage of revenues, marketing and selling expenses were 22.1 percent for the 
three months ended March 31, 2006 and 30.3 percent for the three months ended March 31, 2005. The decrease in marketing and selling expenses from the three months ended March 31, 
2005 to the three months ended March 31, 2006 was primarily attributable to a decrease in employee related expenses of $100,000, a decrease in our international sales offices of $31,000, 
and a decrease of approximately $125,000 of other marketing and selling expenses that were partially offset by the addition of SFAS No. 123R compensation cost of $25,000. 

General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses (“G&A”) include employee-related costs, professional service fees, allocations of overhead expenses, 
litigation costs, including costs associated with the SEC investigation and subsequent litigation, and corporate administrative costs, including finance and human resources. Total G&A 
expenses decreased $227,000, or 17.6 percent, to $1.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2006 compared with the three months ended March 31, 2005 expenses of $1.3 million. 
As a percentage of revenues, G&A expenses were 12.2 percent for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 18.1 percent for the three months ended March 31, 2005. A summary of 
our general and administrative expenses are as follows:
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We attribute the decrease in G&A as a percentage of revenues to 12.2 percent for the three months ended March 31, 2006 from 18.1 percent for the three months ended March 31, 2005 
mostly due to the decrease in SEC investigation and subsequent litigation related fees of $274,000, as well as a decrease in professional fees, including accounting and audit fees, of 
$102,000, and a decrease in other G&A expense of $30,000 partially offset by the addition of SFAS No. 123R compensation cost of $179,000. 

Settlement in shareholders’ class action expense (benefit). We attribute the decrease in benefit for settlement in shareholders’ class action expense (benefit) as a percentage of revenue 
to 0.0 percent for the three months ended March 31, 2006 from (12.0) percent for the three months ended March 31, 2005 to the quarterly mark-to-market of the liability associated with 
the 1.2 million shares of common stock that were issued in November 2004 (fiscal 2005) and September 2005 (fiscal 2006) to class members and their legal counsel as part of the December 
2003 (fiscal 2004) settlement agreement. This mark-to-market adjustment of the stock to reflect the current liability amount associated with the 1.2 million shares was based upon the 
closing price of the Company’s common stock at the end of each quarter through the date the shares were issued on September 29, 2005. Accordingly, we will no longer recognize any 
expense (benefit) associated with these stock price fluctuations.

Research and product development expenses. Research and product development expenses include research and development, product management, and engineering services, and test 
and application expenses, including employee-related costs, outside services, expensed materials, depreciation, and an allocation of overhead expenses. Total research and product 
development expenses increased $778,000, or 54.7 percent, to $2.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2006 compared with the three months ended March 31, 2005 expenses of 
$1.4 million. As a percentage of revenues, research and product development expenses were 25.3 percent for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 20.0 percent for the three 
months ended March 31, 2005. The increase in product development expenses from the three months ended March 31, 2005 to the three months ended March 31, 2006 was due to 
ongoing research and product development efforts and the addition of SFAS No. 123R compensation cost of $44,000.

Operating income (loss). For the three months ended March 31, 2006, our operating loss increased $1.0 million, or 1,232.5 percent, to ($1.1 million) on revenue of $8.7 million, from an 
operating loss of ($83,000) on revenue of $7.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005. As discussed above, the most significant factors affecting this increase in operating 
loss were a decrease in settlement in shareholders’ class action benefit of $855,000 and an increase in research and product development expenses of $778,000, partially offset by a 
decrease in marketing and selling expenses of $231,000, a decrease in general and administrative expenses of $227,000, and an increase in gross margin profit of $152,000. 

Other income (expense), net. Other income (expense), net, includes our interest income, interest expense, capital gains, gain (loss) on the disposal of assets, and currency gain (loss). 
Other income was $237,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2006, an increase of $142,000, or 149.5 percent, from income of $95,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2005. The 
increase in other income for the three months ended March 31, 2006 over the same period in fiscal 2005 was primarily due to an increase in interest income associated with our 
marketable securities.
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Three Months Ended 

March 31,  
    (in thousands)  
    2006   2005  
           
Total G&A before discontinued operations   $ 1,060  $ 1,363 
OM Video G&A     -      (76 )

Total G&A from continuing operations   $ 1,060  $ 1,287 

             
Professional fees (SEC investigation and subsequent litigation)   $ 49  $ 323 
Professional fees (Other)     314     416  
Compensation cost related to SFAS No. 123R     179     -   
Other general and administrative expense     518     548  

Total G&A from continuing operations   $ 1,060  $ 1,287 
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Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes. (Loss) from continuing operations increased $881,000, or 7,341.7 percent to ($869,000) for the three months ended March 
31, 2006 compared with the three months ended March 31, 2005 income from continuing operations of $12,000. As a percentage of revenues, income (loss) from continuing operations 
was (10.0) percent for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and 0.2 percent for the three months ended March 31, 2005. We attribute the change in loss to the results of operations 
described above.

Benefit (provision) for income taxes. Benefit (provision) for income taxes from continuing operations was $763,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2006 and ($5,000) for the three 
months ended March 31, 2005. The change from a provision during the three months ended March 31, 2005 to a benefit during the three months ended March 31, 2006 is mostly due to 
the increase in loss from continuing operations before income taxes discussed above and the income from discontinued operations during the three months ended March 31, 2006 being 
partially offset by our ability to decrease a portion of the valuation allowance against deferred tax assets. Given the Company’s history of consecutive years of losses from continuing 
operations, we followed the guidance of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” and recorded a valuation allowance against certain deferred tax assets where it is not 
considered more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized. As of March 31, 2006, we have fully reserved against our net deferred tax assets. 

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax. Income from discontinued operations, net of tax, includes funds from the Indemnity Escrow account from Premiere related to the sale of 
our conferencing services business which was sold on July 1, 2004, income from discontinued operations related to our Canadian audiovisual business and the gain on the sale of our 
Canadian audiovisual integration business (“OM Video”) which was sold on March 4, 2005, and payment on our note receivable related to the sale to Burk. The income from 
discontinued operations was $646,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2006, an increase of $258,000 or 66.5 percent, from $388,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2005.  

We received funds from the Indemnity Escrow account from Premiere, net of tax, of $646,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2006. 

OM Video services income, net of tax, was $132,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2005 and the gain on the sale of OM Video, net of tax, for the three months ended March 31, 
2005 was $112,000. OM Video audiovisual integration services business revenue was $1.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2005. 

We received payment on our Burk note receivable, net of tax, of $144,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2005.

Nine Months Ended March 31, 2006 (“First, Second, and Third Quarters of Fiscal 2006”) 
Compared to Nine Months Ended March 31, 2005 (“First, Second, and Third Quarters of Fiscal 2005”) 

Revenue

 
Our revenues were $27.9 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 compared to revenues of $22.5 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2005. Total revenues increased 
$5.4 million, or 23.8 percent, in the nine months ended March 31, 2006 compared to the nine months ended March 31, 2005. The increase in revenue was due to continued growth in 
premium and tabletop conferencing products sales of approximately $2.7 million, professional audio conferencing products sales of approximately $2.6 million, and increased net sales in 
other product lines of approximately $100,000.

We evaluate, at each quarter-end, the inventory in the channel through information provided by certain of our distributors.  The level of inventory in the channel will fluctuate up or 
down, each quarter, based upon our distributors’ individual operations.  Accordingly, each quarter-end revenue deferral is calculated and recorded based upon the underlying, 
estimated channel inventory at quarter-end.  During the nine months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, the net change in deferred revenue based on the net movement of inventory in the 
channel was a net (deferral) recognition of ($300,000) and $651,000 in revenue, respectively.
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The following table indicates the number of individual unit shipments to our distributors for certain of our product lines for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005. Due to our 
current revenue recognition policy, the figures do not tie directly to recognized revenues because revenues are recognized when the return rights lapse rather than at the time of 
shipment.

Total revenues from sales outside of the United States accounted for 26.4 percent of total revenue for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 and 27.1 percent of total revenue for the 
nine months ended March 31, 2005. 

Costs of Goods Sold and Gross Profit

Costs of goods sold (“COGS”) from the product segment includes expenses associated with finished goods purchased from outsourced manufacturers, the manufacture of our 
products, including material and direct labor, our manufacturing and operations organization, property and equipment depreciation, warranty expense, freight expense, royalty 
payments, and the allocation of overhead expenses. 

The following table shows our COGS and gross profit together with each item’s amount as a percentage of total revenue: 

COGS increased by approximately $3.3 million, or 30.1 percent, to $14.2 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 compared with $10.9 million for the nine months ended March 
31, 2005. The increase in COGS from the nine months ended March 31, 2005 to the nine months ended March 31, 2006 was primarily attributable to the mix and magnitude of the $5.4 
million or 23.8 percent increase in total revenue partially offset by an incremental deferral of $206,000 more during the nine months ended March 31, 2006 versus the nine months ended 
March 31, 2005 in the deferred COGS where return rights had not lapsed. We had a $193,000 decrease in our write off of product inventory. 

COGS for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, include $146,000 and ($60,000) in net increases (decreases) related to the deferral of product revenue from the respective 
deferral at June 30, 2005 and 2004 because return rights had not lapsed. 

Our gross profit from continuing operations was $13.7 million, or 49.1 percent of revenue, for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 compared to $11.6 million, or 51.5 percent of 
revenue, for the nine months ended March 31, 2005. The increase in gross profit of $2.1 million, or 17.8 percent, is mostly due to the $5.4 million, or 23.8 percent, increase in revenue mix 
from sales of professional conferencing products and premium and tabletop conferencing products partially offset by the change in deferred gross profit where return rights had not 
lapsed. Deferred gross profit changed from a net increase in gross profit of $591,000 during the nine months ended March 31, 2005 compared to a net reduction in gross profit of 
($154,000) during the nine months ended March 31, 2006. The change in gross profit was also negatively impacted by reduced prices on certain end-of-life products. During the past 
seven quarters, the gross profit percentage has ranged from a high of 55.8 percent in the three months ended June 30, 2005 to a low of 43.7 percent for the three months ended 
September 30, 2004. We believe quarterly fluctuations will continue to occur based upon actual product mix. 
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  Nine Months Ended March 31,

  (by individual unit)

  2006 2005

Professional audio conferencing 9,615 7,720
Premium and tabletop conferencing 18,309 6,964

    Nine Months Ended March 31,  
    (in thousands)  
    2006   2005  

       
% of 

Revenue      
% of 

Revenue  
                   
Cost of goods sold   $ 14,213    50.9%   $ 10,925    48.5%  

                       
Gross profit   $ 13,689    49.1%   $ 11,617    51.5%  
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Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses were $14.4 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2006, an increase of $2.5 million, or 21.1 percent, from $11.9 million for the nine months ended March 31, 
2005. The increase in operating expenses from the levels for the nine months ended March 31, 2005 to the levels for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 is primarily related to 
increased research and product development expenses, the reduced benefit related to the settlement in the shareholders’ class action, and the introduction of compensation cost related 
the SFAS No. 123R, partially offset by decreased spending in marketing and selling. The following is a more detailed discussion of expenses related to marketing and selling, general and 
administrative, settlement in shareholders’ class action, and research and product development.  

Marketing and selling expenses. Marketing and selling expenses include selling, customer service, and marketing expenses such as employee-related costs, allocations of overhead 
expenses, trade shows, and other advertising and selling expenses. Total marketing and selling expenses decreased $1.0 million, or 15.7 percent, to $5.5 million for the nine months ended 
March 31, 2006 compared with the nine months ended March 31, 2005 expenses of $6.6 million. As a percentage of revenues, marketing and selling expenses were 19.9 percent for the 
nine months ended March 31, 2006 and 29.2 percent for the nine months ended March 31, 2005. The decrease in marketing and selling expenses from the nine months ended March 31, 
2005 to the nine months ended March 31, 2006 was primarily attributable to a decrease in our international sales offices of approximately $575,000, a decrease in employee related 
expenses of approximately $275,000, and a decrease of approximately $275,000 of other marketing and selling expenses that were partially offset by the addition of SFAS No. 123R 
compensation cost of $75,000.

General and administrative expenses. G&A expenses include employee-related costs, professional service fees, allocations of overhead expenses, litigation costs, including costs 
associated with the SEC investigation and subsequent litigation, and corporate administrative costs, including finance and human resources. Total G&A expenses increased $178,000, 
or 4.3 percent, to $4.3 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 compared with the nine months ended March 31, 2005 expenses of $4.1 million. As a percentage of revenues, 
G&A expenses were 15.4 percent for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 and 18.2 percent for the nine months ended March 31, 2005. A summary of our general and administrative 
expenses are as follows:

We attribute the decrease in G&A as a percentage of revenues to 15.4 percent for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 from 18.2 percent for the nine months ended March 31, 2005 
mostly due to the $5.4 million, or 23.8 percent, increase in revenue. The increase in actual expenses is also due to the addition of SFAS No. 123R compensation cost of $598,000 and the 
increase in professional fees, including accounting and audit fees, of $160,000 partially offset by a $328,000 decrease in SEC investigation and subsequent litigation related fees and a 
$252,000 decrease in other G&A expense. 
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Nine Months Ended 

March 31,  
    (in thousands)  
    2006   2005  
           
Total G&A before discontinued operations   $ 4,288  $ 4,363 
OM Video G&A     -      (253 )

Total G&A from continuing operations   $ 4,288  $ 4,110 

             
Professional fees (SEC investigation and subsequent litigation)   $ 473  $ 801 
Professional fees (Other)     1,544     1,384  
Compensation cost related to SFAS No. 123R     598     -   
Other general and administrative expense     1,673     1,925  

Total G&A from continuing operations   $ 4,288  $ 4,110 
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Settlement in shareholders’ class action expense (benefit). We attribute the decrease in benefit for settlement in shareholders’ class action expense as a percentage of revenue to (4.3) 
percent for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 from (11.6) percent for the nine months ended March 31, 2005 to the quarterly mark-to-market of the liability associated with the 1.2 
million shares of common stock that were issued in November 2004 (fiscal 2005) and September 2005 (fiscal 2006) to class members and their legal counsel as part of the December 2003 
(fiscal 2004) settlement agreement. This mark-to-market adjustment of the stock to reflect the current liability amount associated with the 1.2 million shares was based upon the closing 
price of the Company’s common stock at the end of each quarter through the date the shares were issued on September 29, 2005. Accordingly, we will no longer recognize any expense 
(benefit) associated with these stock price fluctuations.

Research and product development expenses. Research and product development expenses include research and development, product management, and engineering services, and test 
and application expenses, including employee-related costs, outside services, expensed materials, depreciation, and an allocation of overhead expenses. Total research and product 
development expenses increased $2.0 million, or 51.7 percent, to $5.8 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 compared with the nine months ended March 31, 2005 expenses 
of $3.8 million. As a percentage of revenues, research and product development expenses were 20.7 percent for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 and 16.9 percent for the nine 
months ended March 31, 2005. The increase in product development expenses from the levels for the nine months ended March 31, 2005 to the levels for the nine months ended March 
31, 2006 was due to ongoing research and product development efforts and the addition of SFAS No. 123R compensation cost of $131,000. 

Operating income (loss). For the nine months ended March 31, 2006, our operating loss increased $442,000, or 162.5 percent, to ($714,000) on revenue of $27.9 million, from an operating 
loss of ($272,000) on revenue of $22.5 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2005. As discussed above, the factors affecting this increase in operating loss were an increase in 
research and product development expenses of $2.0 million, a decrease in settlement in shareholders’ class action benefit of $1.4 million, and an increase in general and administrative 
expenses of $178,000 partially offset by an increase in gross margin profit of $2.1 million and a decrease in marketing and selling expenses of $1.0 million. 

Other income (expense), net. Other income (expense), net, includes our interest income, interest expense, capital gains, gain (loss) on the disposal of assets, and currency gain (loss). 
Other income was $594,000 for the nine months ended March 31, 2006, an increase of $401,000, or 207.8 percent, from income of $193,000 for the nine months ended March 31, 2005. The 
increase in other income for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 over the same period in fiscal 2005 was primarily due to an increase in interest income associated with our marketable 
securities and a decrease in interest expense related to our Oracle system-related note payable. 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes. (Loss) from continuing operations increased $41,000, or 51.9 percent to ($120,000) for the nine months ended March 31, 
2006 compared with the nine months ended March 31, 2005 (loss) from continuing operations of ($79,000). As a percentage of revenues, income (loss) from continuing operations was 
(0.4) percent for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 and for the nine months ended March 31, 2005. We attribute the change in income to the results of operations described above. 

Benefit for income taxes. Benefit for income taxes from continuing operations was $1.1 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 and $29,000 for the nine months ended March 
31, 2005. The increase in the benefit is mostly due to the income from discontinued operations during the nine months ended March 31, 2006 being partially offset by our ability to 
decrease a portion of the valuation allowance against deferred tax assets. Given the Company’s history of consecutive years of losses from continuing operations, we followed the 
guidance of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” and recorded a valuation allowance against certain deferred tax assets where it is not considered more likely than not that 
the deferred tax assets will be realized. As of March 31, 2006, we have fully reserved against our net deferred tax assets. 
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Income from discontinued operations, net of tax. Income from discontinued operations, net of tax, includes the gain on the sale of our conferencing services business and the funds 
from the Indemnity Escrow account from Premiere related to the sale of our conferencing services business which was sold on July 1, 2004; income from discontinued operations related 
to our Canadian audiovisual integration business (“OM Video”); the gain on the March 4, 2005 sale of OM Video; payments on our note receivable related to the sale of OM Video; and 
payments on our note receivable related to the sale to Burk. The total income from discontinued operations was $1.7 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2006, a decrease of 
$12.1 million or 87.8 percent, from $13.8 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2005. 

We received funds from the Indemnity Escrow account from Premiere, net of tax, of $646,000 for the nine months ended March 31, 2006. We realized a gain, net of tax, on the sale of $13.4 
million for the nine months ended March 31, 2005. 

We received payments on our OM Video note receivable, net of tax, of $188,000 for the nine months ended March 31, 2006 while OM Video services income, net of tax, was $173,000 for 
the nine months ended March 31, 2005 and a gain on the sale of OM Video, net of tax, was $112,000 for the same period in fiscal 2005. OM Video audiovisual integration services 
business revenue was $3.8 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2005.

On August 22, 2005 we entered into a Mutual Release and Waiver with Burk pursuant to which Burk paid us $1.3 million in full satisfaction of the promissory note, which included a 
discount of $119,000. As part of the Mutual Release and Waiver Agreement, we waived any right to future commission payments from Burk and we granted mutual releases to one 
another with respect to claims and liabilities. We realized a gain, net of tax, of $844,000 for the nine months ended March 31, 2006. We received payment on our Burk note receivable, net 
of tax, of $144,000 for the nine months ended March 31, 2005.

THIRD-PARTY MANUFACTURING AGREEMENT 

On August 1, 2005, we entered into a Manufacturing Agreement with a third-party manufacturer (“TPM”), pursuant to which we agreed to outsource our Salt Lake City manufacturing 
operations. The parties also entered into a one-year sublease for approximately 12,000 square feet of manufacturing space located in our headquarters in Salt Lake City, Utah. TPM paid 
$11,000 per month under the sublease through May 31, 2006, when the sublease was terminated. Costs associated with outsourcing our manufacturing totaled approximately $290,000 
including severance payments, facilities we no longer use, and impairment of property and equipment. We recorded the change related to these costs in the fiscal 2005 consolidated 
financial statements.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Sale of OM Video. Through December 31, 2005, all payments due under the note receivable through such date had been received and $854,000 of the promissory note remained 
outstanding; however, OM Purchaser has failed to make any subsequent, required payments under the note receivable and is in default thereunder. We are currently considering our 
collection options.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of March 31, 2006, our cash and cash equivalents were approximately $1.6 million and our marketable securities were approximately $18.9 million, which represented an overall 
increase of $2.8 million in our balances from June 30, 2005 which were cash and cash equivalents of approximately $1.9 million and our marketable securities of approximately $15.8 
million. 

Net cash flows provided by operating activities were $1.3 million for the nine months ended March 31, 2006, an increase of $1.9 million, from the net cash flows (used in) operating 
activities of ($588,000) for the nine months ended March 31, 2005. The year-over-year increase was attributable to a decrease of $1.6 million in cash used changes in working capital and 
an increase in income from continuing operations of $980,000 partially offset by a decrease of $551,000 in cash provided by in non-cash expenses and a $168,000 decrease in cash 
provided by discontinued operations. 
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Net cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities were ($1.5 million) for the nine months ended March 31, 2006, a decrease of $2.4 million, from the net cash flows provided by 
investing activities of $886,000 for the nine months ended March 31, 2005. The change was primarily attributable to a decrease in net cash provided by discontinued operations of $12.4 
million partially offset by a decrease in the net (purchase) of marketable securities of approximately $9.2 million, a decrease in the purchase of property and equipment of $696,000, and 
an increase in the proceeds from the sale of property and equipment of $74,000. On August 22, 2005 we entered into a Mutual Release and Waiver with Burk pursuant to which Burk 
paid us $844,000, net of tax, in full satisfaction of the promissory note, which is included in net cash provided by discontinued investing activities. In January 2006, we received the 
$646,000, net of tax, in the Indemnity Escrow account from Premiere.

We did not have any net cash flows used in financing activities for the nine months ended March 31, 2006, a decrease of $940,000, from the net cash flows (used in) financing activities 
of ($940,000) for the nine months ended March 31, 2005. This increase was attributable to a $940,000 decrease in cash used in payments on note payable and capital lease obligations.  

We have no off-balance-sheet financing arrangements with related parties and no unconsolidated subsidiaries. Contractual obligations related to our operating leases at March 31, 2006 
are summarized below (in thousands):

 
At March 31, 2006, we had open purchase orders related to our contract manufacturers and other contractual obligations of approximately $5.2 million primarily related to inventory 
purchases. 

We have non-cancellable, non-returnable, and long-lead time commitments with our outsourced manufacturers and certain suppliers for inventory components that will be used in 
production. Our exposure associated with these commitments is approximately $1.6 million, with the fiscal 2006 exposure being approximately $1.0 million and the fiscal 2007 and 2008 
exposure being approximately $600,000. We also have certain commitments with our outsourced manufacturers for raw material inventory that is used in production on an on-going 
basis. Our exposure associated with this inventory is approximately $1.5 million.

Through December 31, 2005, all payments due under the note receivable from the sale of OM Video through such date had been received and $854,000 of the promissory note remained 
outstanding; however, OM Purchaser has failed to make any subsequent, required payments under the note receivable and is in default thereunder. We are currently considering our 
collection options. 

As of March 31, 2006, we had a net income tax receivable of $3.7 million. The receivable was generated from net operating loss carrybacks related to tax returns for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2004 of $3.1 million and an overpayment of income taxes of approximately $500,000 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2005. Additionally, we recorded in continuing and 
discontinued operations a combined tax benefit of $52,000 during the nine months ended March 31, 2006. 

Beginning in January 2003 and continuing through the date of this report, we have incurred significant costs with respect to the defense and settlement of legal proceedings and the 
audits of our consolidated financial statements. The restatement of fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001 consolidated financial statements and the fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 audits were 
significantly more time consuming and expensive than originally anticipated. The extended time commitment required to complete the restatement of financial information continues to 
be costly and to divert our resources, as well as to have a material effect on our results of operations. We paid $127,000 in fiscal 2006, $2.5 million in fiscal 2005, and $2.5 million in fiscal 
2004 in cash to settle the shareholders’ class action lawsuit. We have incurred legal fees in the amount of approximately $1.9 million from January 2003 through May 2006 and we have 
incurred audit and tax fees in the amount of approximately $3.6 million from January 2004 through May 2006. We expect that in fiscal 2007 these costs will be substantially less. 
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    Payments Due by Period  

Contractual Obligations
 

Total  
Remainder of 
Fiscal 2006  

Fiscal 2007 
and 2008  

Fiscal 2009 
and 2010   Thereafter  

                       
Operating Leases   $ 366  $ 124  $ 240  $ 2  $ - 
                            

Total Contractual Cash Obligations   $ 366  $ 124  $ 240  $ 2  $ - 
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During fiscal 2006, we increased our research and development spending for new product development, including the hiring of new engineering and support staff, as well as increased 
spending on software, hardware, prototype development, and testing. We have also invested in the introduction of new products, including the Converge 560/590, the MaxAttach IP 
and Max IP, the Tabletop Controller for XAP Platform, as well as the Chat 50, Converge Pro, and Chat 150.

We have not exercised our five-year renewal option on our existing Company headquarters. We have entered into a letter of intent on a new corporate headquarters facility that we 
believe will better meet our current and future requirements. The proposed lease term is seven years, with a five-year exit clause, and a minimum of 36,000 square feet. The lease is 
anticipated to commence on November 1, 2006. 

Our principal source of funding for these and other expenses has been cash generated from operations and from the sale of discontinued operations. We believe that our working 
capital and cash flows from operating activities will be sufficient to satisfy our operating and capital expenditure requirements through fiscal 2007.  

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations in the European Union

In June 2005, the FASB issued a FSP interpreting SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” specifically FSP 143-1, “Accounting for Electronic Equipment Waste 
Obligations.” FSP 143-1 addresses the accounting for obligations associated with Directive 2002/96/EC, “Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment,” which was adopted by the 
European Union (“EU”). The FSP provides guidance on how to account for the effects of the Directive but only with respect to historical waste associated with products placed on the 
market on or before August 13, 2005.  FSP 143-1 was effective beginning with our fiscal 2006 financial statements. We do not believe that the adoption of FSP 143-1 had a material effect 
on our business, results of operations, financial position, or liquidity.

Inventory Costs

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs - an Amendment of ARB No. 43,” which is the result of its efforts to converge U.S. accounting standards for 
inventories with International Accounting Standards. SFAS No. 151 requires idle facility expenses, freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage) costs to be recognized as 
current-period charges. It also requires that allocation of fixed production overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. SFAS No. 
151 was effective for our fiscal 2006 financial statements. There was not a significant impact on our business, results of operations, financial position, or liquidity from the adoption of 
this standard.

Accounting Changes and Error Corrections

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections - a Replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3,” in order to converge 
U.S. accounting standards with International Accounting Standards. SFAS No. 154 changes the requirements for the accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. 
Previously, most voluntary changes in accounting principles required recognition of a cumulative effect adjustment within net income of the period of the change. SFAS No. 154 
requires retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements, unless it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. 
SFAS No. 154 is effective for accounting changes made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005; however, it does not change the transition provisions of any existing 
accounting pronouncements. We do not believe that the adoption of SFAS No. 154 will have a material effect on our business, results of operations, financial position, or liquidity. 
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Other-Than-Temporary Impairment 

In March 2004, the FASB issued EITF Issue No. 03-01, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and its Application to Certain Investments,” which provides new guidance 
for assessing impairment losses on debt and equity investments. The new impairment model applies to investments accounted for under the cost or equity method and investments 
accounted for under SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” EITF No. 03-01 also includes new disclosure requirements for cost method 
investments and for all investments that are in an unrealized loss position. In September 2004, the FASB delayed the accounting provisions of EITF No. 03-01; however, the disclosure 
requirements remain effective. We do not expect that the adoption of this EITF, when the delay is suspended, will have a material impact on our business, results of operations, financial 
position, or liquidity. 

Item 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our exposure to market risk has not changed materially since June 30, 2005.

Item 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended 
(the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the required time periods and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our 
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. The effectiveness of 
any system of disclosure controls and procedures is subject to certain limitations, including the exercise of judgment in designing, implementing, and evaluating the controls and 
procedures, the assumptions used in identifying the likelihood of future events, and the inability to eliminate improper conduct completely. A controls system, no matter how well-
designed and operated, cannot provide absolute assurance that the objectives of the controls system are met, and no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all 
control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within a company have been detected. As a result, there can be no assurance that our disclosure controls and procedures will detect all 
errors or fraud.

As required by Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act, we have completed an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Interim Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness and the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of March 31, 2006. Based upon 
this evaluation and as a result of the material weakness discussed below, our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Interim Chief Financial Officer, has concluded 
that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of March 31, 2006. Management nevertheless has concluded that the condensed consolidated financial statements 
included in this Form 10-Q present fairly, in all material respects, our results of operations and financial position for the periods presented in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles. 

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that result in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim 
financial statements will not be prevented or detected in a timely basis by management or employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions. As of March 31, 2006, 
we identified the following material weakness in our internal controls:

There were no changes to any reported financial results that have been released by us in this or any other filings as a result of the above-described material weakness; however, the 
following actions have been commenced since June 30, 2005 in response to the inadequacies noted above:
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·   Ineffective financial statement close process. We have a material weakness in the timeliness and adequacy of the monthly close process to effect a timely and accurate 
financial statement close with the necessary level of review and supervision. Accounting personnel have not been able to focus full attention to correcting this weakness due 
to their focus on the preparation, audit, and issuance for the restated fiscal 2001, restated fiscal 2002, and fiscal 2003, 2004, and 2005 consolidated financial statements as well as 
the interim fiscal 2006 condensed consolidated financial statements. 
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We have committed considerable resources to date to the reviews and remedies described above, although certain of such items are on-going as of this filing date, and it will take time 
to realize all of the benefits. Additional efforts will be required to remediate the material weakness in our controls. We believe that the steps taken to date, along with certain other 
remediation plans we are currently undertaking, including those described above, will address the material weakness that affects our internal controls over financial reporting for the 
fiscal year ending June 30, 2006. We will continue our on-going evaluation and expect to improve our internal controls as necessary to assure their effectiveness.  

Other than as described above, since the evaluation date, there has been no change in our internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the 
Exchange Act) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.  
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·   Initiation of an evaluation and remediation process with respect to internal controls over financial reporting and related processes designed to identify internal controls that 
mitigate financial reporting risk and identify control gaps that may require further remediation. 

·   Evaluation of the staffing, organizational structure, systems, policies and procedures, and other reporting processes, to improve the timeliness of closing the Company’s 
accounting records and to enhance the level of review and supervision. 

·   Re-evaluation of prior policies and procedures and the establishment of new policies and procedures for such matters as non-routine and complex transactions, account 
reconciliation procedures, and contract management procedures. 

·   Hiring of additional accounting personnel with experience in accounting matters and financial reporting. 
·   On-going training and monitoring by management to ensure operation of controls as designed. 
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION 

Item 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Legal Proceedings. In addition to the legal proceedings described below, we are also involved from time to time in various claims and other legal proceedings which arise in the normal 
course of business. Such matters are subject to many uncertainties and outcomes that are not predictable. However, based on the information available to us as of June 15, 2006 and 
after discussions with legal counsel, we do not believe any such other proceedings will have a material, adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial position, or 
liquidity, except as described below.

The Shareholders’ Class Action. On June 30, 2003, a consolidated complaint was filed against the Company, eight present or former officers and directors of the Company, and Ernst & 
Young LLP (“Ernst & Young”), the Company’s former independent public accountants, by a class consisting of purchasers of the Company’s common stock during the period from 
April 17, 2001 through January 15, 2003. The action followed the consolidation of several previously filed class action complaints and the appointment of lead counsel for the class. The 
allegations in the complaint were essentially the same as those contained in an SEC complaint described in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 
2005. On December 4, 2003, the Company, on behalf of itself and all other defendants with the exception of Ernst & Young, entered into a settlement agreement with the class pursuant 
to which the Company agreed to pay the class $5.0 million and to issue the class 1.2 million shares of its common stock. The cash payment was made in two equal installments, the first 
on November 10, 2003 (fiscal 2004) and the second on January 14, 2005 (fiscal 2005). On May 23, 2005, the court order was amended to require the Company to pay cash in lieu of stock 
to those members of the class who would otherwise have been entitled to receive fewer than 100 shares of stock. On September 29, 2005 (fiscal 2006), we completed our obligations 
under the settlement agreement by issuing a total of 1,148,494 shares of our common stock to the plaintiff class, including 228,000 shares previously issued in November 2004 (fiscal 
2005), and we paid an aggregate of $127,000 in cash in lieu of shares to those members of the class who would otherwise have been entitled to receive an odd-lot number of shares or 
who resided in states in which there was no exemption available for the issuance of shares. The cash payments were calculated on the basis of $2.46 per share which was equal to the 
higher of (i) the closing price for our common stock as reported by the Pink Sheets on the business day prior to the date the shares were mailed, or (ii) the average closing price over the 
five trading days prior to such mailing date. The 920,494 shares that were issued on September 29, 2005 were also valued at $2.46 per share. 

On a quarterly basis, we revalued the un-issued shares to the closing price of the stock on the later of the date the shares were mailed or the last day of the quarter. During the nine 
months ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, we received a benefit of $1.2 million and $2.6 million, respectively, related to the revaluation of the 1.2 million shares of the Company’s common 
stock that were issued in November 2004 and September 2005. During the three months ended March 31, 2005, the Company received a benefit of $855,000. 

The Shareholder Derivative Actions. Between March and August 2003, four shareholder derivative actions were filed by certain shareholders of the Company against various present 
and past officers and directors of the Company and against Ernst & Young. The complaints asserted allegations similar to those asserted in an SEC complaint described in the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2005 and the shareholders’ class action described above and also alleged that the defendant directors and officers 
violated their fiduciary duties to the Company by causing or allowing the Company to recognize revenue in violation of GAAP and to issue materially misstated financial statements and 
that Ernst & Young breached its professional responsibilities to the Company and acted in violation of GAAP by failing to identify or prevent the alleged revenue recognition violations 
and by issuing unqualified audit opinions with respect to the Company’s fiscal 2002 and 2001 financial statements. One of these actions was dismissed without prejudice on June 13, 
2003. As to the other three actions, our Board of Directors appointed a special litigation committee of independent directors to evaluate the claims made by these shareholders. That 
committee determined that the maintenance of the derivative proceedings against the individual defendants was not in the best interest of the Company. Accordingly, on December 12, 
2003, we moved to dismiss those claims. In March 2004, our motions to dismiss those claims were granted and the derivative claims were dismissed with prejudice as to all defendants 
except Ernst & Young. The Company was substituted as the plaintiff in the action and is now pursuing in its own name the claims against Ernst & Young.  
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The Insurance Coverage Action. On February 9, 2004, the Company and Edward Dallin Bagley, the Chairman of the Board of Directors and a significant shareholder of ClearOne, jointly 
filed an action against National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania (“National Union”) and Lumbermens Mutual Insurance Company of Berkeley Heights, New 
Jersey (“Lumbermens Mutual”), the carriers of certain prior period directors and officers’ liability insurance policies, to recover the costs of defending and resolving claims against 
certain of our present and former directors and officers in connection with an SEC complaint described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2005, and the 
shareholders’ class action and the shareholder derivative actions described above, and seeking other damages resulting from the refusal of such carriers to timely pay the amounts 
owing under such liability insurance policies. This action has been consolidated into a declaratory relief action filed by one of the insurance carriers on February 6, 2004 against 
ClearOne and certain of its current and former directors. In this relief action, the insurers assert that they are entitled to rescind insurance coverage under the Company’s directors and 
officers liability insurance policies, $3.0 million of which was provided by National Union and $2.0 million of which was provided by Lumbermens Mutual, based on alleged 
misstatements in the Company’s insurance applications. In February 2005, we entered into a confidential settlement agreement with Lumbermens Mutual pursuant to which ClearOne 
and Mr. Bagley received a lump-sum cash amount and the plaintiffs agreed to dismiss their claims against Lumbermens Mutual with prejudice. The cash settlement is held in a 
segregated account that has not been recorded in the financial statements and will not be until the claims involving National Union have been resolved, at which time the amounts 
received in the action will be allocated between the Company and Mr. Bagley. The amount distributed to the Company and Mr. Bagley will be determined based on future negotiations 
between the Company and Mr. Bagley. The Company cannot currently estimate the amount of the settlement which it will ultimately receive. Upon determining the amount of the 
settlement which we will ultimately receive, we will record this as a contingent gain. On October 21, 2005, the court granted summary judgment in favor of National Union on its 
rescission defense and accordingly entered a judgment dismissing all of the claims asserted by ClearOne and Mr. Bagley. In connection with the summary judgment, the Company has 
been ordered to pay approximately $59,000 in expenses. However, due to the Lumbermans Mutual cash proceeds discussed above and the appeal of the summary judgment discussed 
below, this potential liability has not been recorded in the balance sheet as of March 31, 2006. On February 2, 2006, the Company and Mr. Bagley filed an appeal of the summary 
judgment granted on October 21, 2005 and intend to vigorously pursue the appeal and any follow-up proceedings regarding their claims against National Union, although no 
assurances can be given that they will be successful. The Company and Mr. Bagley have entered into a Joint Prosecution and Defense Agreement in connection with the action and we 
are paying all litigation expenses except litigation expenses which are solely related to Mr. Bagley’s claims in the litigation. 

Wells Submission. We have been advised by the staff of the Salt Lake District Office of the SEC that the staff intended to recommend to the Commission that administrative proceedings 
be instituted to revoke the registration of the Company’s common stock based on the Company’s failure to timely file annual and quarterly reports with the Commission. We provided 
the staff with a so-called “Wells Submission” setting forth our position with respect to the staff’s intended recommendation. To date, the Commission has not instituted an 
administrative proceeding against us; however, there can be no assurance that the Commission will not institute an administrative proceeding in the future or that we would prevail if an 
administrative proceeding were instituted. 

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS 

Investors should carefully consider the risks described below. The risks described below are not the only ones we face, and there are risks that we are not presently aware of or that 
we currently believe are immaterial that may also impair our business operations. Any of these risks could harm our business. The trading price of our common stock could decline 
significantly due to any of these risks and investors may lose all or part of their investment. In assessing these risks, investors should also refer to the other information contained or 
incorporated by reference in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including our March 31, 2006 unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes. 
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Risks Relating to Our Business

We face intense competition in all of the markets for our products and services; our operating results will be adversely affected if we cannot compete effectively against other 
companies.

As described in more detail in the section entitled “Competition,” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2005, the markets for our products and services are 
characterized by intense competition and pricing pressures and rapid technological change. We compete with businesses having substantially greater financial, research and 
development, manufacturing, marketing, and other resources. If we are not able to continually design, manufacture, and successfully introduce new or enhanced products or services 
that are comparable or superior to those provided by our competitors and at comparable or better prices, we could experience pricing pressures and reduced sales, gross profit, profits, 
and market share, each of which could have a materially adverse effect on our business.

Difficulties in estimating customer demand in our products segment could harm our gross profit.

Orders from our distributors and other distribution participants are based on demand from end-users. Prospective end-user demand is seasonal and is difficult to measure. This means 
that our revenues in any fiscal quarter could be adversely impacted by low end-user demand, which could in turn negatively affect orders we receive from distributors and dealers. Our 
expectations for both short- and long-term future net revenues are based on our own estimates of future demand.  

Revenues for any particular time period are difficult to predict with any degree of certainty. We usually ship products within a short time after we receive an order; so consequently, 
unshipped backlog has not been a good indicator of future revenues. We believe that the current level of backlog will fluctuate dependent in part on our ability to forecast revenue mix 
and plan our manufacturing accordingly. A significant portion of our customers’ orders are received in the last month of the quarter. We budget the amount of our expenses based on 
our revenue estimates. If our estimates of sales are not accurate and we experience unforeseen variability in our revenues and operating results, we may be unable to adjust our expense 
levels accordingly and our gross profit and results of operations will be adversely affected. Higher inventory levels or stock shortages may also result from difficulties in estimating 
customer demand.

Our sales depend to a certain extent on government funding and regulation.

In the audio conferencing products market, the revenues generated from sales of our audio conferencing products for distance learning and courtroom facilities are dependent on 
government funding. In the event government funding for such initiatives was reduced or became unavailable, our sales could be negatively impacted. Additionally, many of our 
products are subject to governmental regulations. New regulations could significantly impact sales in an adverse manner.

Environmental laws and regulations subject us to a number of risks and could result in significant costs and impact on revenue 

The European Parliament has published a directive on the Restriction on Use of Hazardous Substances Directive (the “RoHS Directive”), which restricts the use of certain hazardous 
substances in electrical and electronic equipment beginning July 1, 2006. In order to comply with this directive, it has become necessary to re-design the majority of our product line and 
switch over to components that do not contain the restricted substances, such as lead, mercury, and cadmium. This process involves procurement of the new compliant components, 
engineering effort to integrate and test them, and re-submitting the products for emissions, safety, and telephone line interface compliance testing and approval. This effort has 
consumed resources and time that would otherwise have been spent on new product development, which will continue until the product line has been updated.  
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To date, certain of our products have not been re-designed and are therefore not-compliant with these laws and regulations. Accordingly, sales into the European market beginning July 
1, 2006 may be negatively impacted and our results of operations could suffer. We anticipate that most of these product re-designs and launches will be completed during the first half 
of fiscal 2007. Additionally, certain of our products will not be re-designed. Our outsourced manufacturers may hold us responsible for the cost of purchased components that become 
obsolete as a result of these re-design efforts. To the extent that we cannot manage these exposures to our current estimates, our results of operations could be negatively impacted. In 
addition, because this has essentially become a worldwide issue for all electronics manufacturers who wish to sell into the European market, we have seen increased lead times for 
compliant components because of the increased demand. This is an issue that is not unique to ClearOne.

The European Parliament has also published a directive on Electronic and Electrical Waste Management (the “WEEE Directive”), which makes producers of certain electrical and 
electronic equipment financially responsible for collection, reuse, recycling, treatment, and disposal of equipment placed on the European Union market after August 13, 2005. We are 
currently compliant in terms of the labeling requirements and have finalized the recycling processes with the appropriate entities within Europe. According to our understanding of the 
directive, distributors of our product are deemed producers and must comply with this directive by contracting with a recycler for the recovery, recycling, and reuse of product.  

Product development delays or defects could harm our competitive position and reduce our revenues.

We have, in the past, and may again experience, technical difficulties and delays with the development and introduction of new products. Many of the products we develop contain 
sophisticated and complicated components and utilize manufacturing techniques involving new technologies. Potential difficulties in the development process that could be 
experienced by us include difficulty in: 

Once new products reach the market, they may have defects, which could adversely affect market acceptance of these products and our reputation. If we are not able to manage and 
minimize such potential difficulties, our business and results of operations could be negatively affected.

Proposed sale of our camera business.

In March 2006, we entered into a letter of intent with a potential purchaser of our document and educational camera manufacturing and sales business. We are currently in the due 
diligence phase and there is no guarantee that an actual sale will be completed. We are actively managing our customer relationships and our camera inventory to meet the needs of our 
camera customers. If our estimates of future sales and required inventory are not accurate and we experience an unforeseen drop in sales or excess inventory, our revenues and gross 
profit may be adversely affected. If the proposed sale occurs, future revenues will be negatively affected.

Our profitability may be adversely affected by our continuing dependence on our distribution channels.

We market our products primarily through a network of distributors who in turn sell our products to systems integrators, dealers, and value-added resellers. All of our agreements with 
such distributors and other distribution participants are non-exclusive, terminable at will by either party and generally short-term. No assurances can be given that any or all such 
distributors or other distribution participants will continue their relationship with us. Distributors and to a lesser extent systems integrators, dealers, and value-added resellers cannot 
easily be replaced and the loss of revenues and our inability to reduce expenses to compensate for the loss of revenues could adversely affect our net revenues and gross profit. 
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·   meeting required specifications and regulatory standards;  
·   meeting market expectations for performance; 
·   hiring and keeping a sufficient number of skilled developers;  
·   having the ability to identify problems or product defects in the development cycle; and  
·   achieving necessary manufacturing efficiencies.  
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Although we rely on our distribution channels to sell our products, our distributors and other distribution participants are not obligated to devote any specified amount of time, 
resources, or efforts to the marketing of our products or to sell a specified number of our products. There are no prohibitions on distributors or other resellers offering products that are 
competitive with our products and most do offer competitive products. The support of our products by distributors and other distribution participants may depend on the competitive 
strength of our products and the price incentives we offer for their support. If our distributors and other distribution participants are not committed to our products, our revenues and 
gross profit may be adversely affected. 

Reporting of channel inventory by certain distributors.

We defer recognition of revenue from product sales to distributors until the return privilege has expired, which approximates when product is sold-through to customers of our 
distributors. We evaluate, at each quarter-end, the inventory in the channel through information provided by certain of our distributors. We use this information along with our 
judgment and estimates to determine the amount of inventory in the entire channel, for all customers and for all inventory items, and the appropriate revenue and cost of goods sold 
associated with those channel products. We cannot guarantee that the third party data, as reported, or that our assumptions and judgments regarding total channel inventory revenue 
and cost of goods sold will be accurate.

We depend on an outsourced manufacturing strategy.

In August 2005, we entered into a manufacturing agreement with a manufacturing services provider, to be the exclusive manufacturer of substantially all the products that were 
previously manufactured at our Salt Lake City, Utah manufacturing facility. This manufacturer is currently the primary manufacturer of many of our products and if this manufacturer 
experiences difficulties in obtaining sufficient supplies of components, component prices become unreasonable, an interruption in its operations, or otherwise suffers capacity 
constraints, we would experience a delay in shipping these products which would have a negative impact on our revenues. 

We have an agreement with an international manufacturer for the manufacture of other product lines. We use an offshore facility. Should there be any disruption in services due to 
natural disaster, economic or political difficulties, quarantines or other restrictions associated with infectious diseases, or other similar events, or any other reason, such disruption 
would have a material adverse effect on our business. A delay in shipping these products due to an interruption in the manufacturer’s operations would have a negative impact on our 
revenues. Operating in the international environment exposes us to certain inherent risks, including unexpected changes in regulatory requirements and tariffs, and potentially adverse 
tax consequences, which could materially affect our results of operations. Currently, we have no second source of manufacturing for substantially all of our products. 

Product obsolescence could harm demand for our products and could adversely affect our revenues and our results of operations. 

Our industry is subject to rapid and frequent technological innovations that could render existing technologies in our products obsolete and thereby decrease market demand for such 
products. If any of our products become slow-moving or obsolete and the recorded value of our inventory is greater than its market value, we will be required to write down the value of 
our inventory to its fair market value, which would adversely affect our results of operations. In limited circumstances, we are required to purchase components that our outsourced 
manufacturers use to produce and assemble our products. Should technological innovations render these components obsolete, we will be required to write down the value of this 
inventory, which could adversely affect our results of operations.
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If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights or have insufficient proprietary rights, our business would be materially impaired. 

We currently rely primarily on a combination of trade secrets, copyrights, trademarks, patents, and nondisclosure agreements to establish and protect our proprietary rights in our 
products. No assurances can be given that others will not independently develop similar technologies, or duplicate or design around aspects of our technology. In addition, we cannot 
assure that any patent or registered trademark owned by us will not be invalidated, circumvented or challenged, or that the rights granted thereunder will provide competitive 
advantages to us. Litigation may be necessary to enforce our intellectual property rights. We believe our products and other proprietary rights do not infringe upon any proprietary 
rights of third parties; however, we cannot assure that third parties will not assert infringement claims in the future. Our industry is characterized by vigorous protection of intellectual 
property rights. Such claims and the resulting litigation are expensive and could divert management’s attention, regardless of their merit. In the event of a claim, we might be required to 
license third-party technology or redesign our products, which may not be possible or economically feasible. 

We currently hold only a limited number of patents. To the extent that we have patentable technology for which we have not filed patent applications, others may be able to use such 
technology or even gain priority over us by patenting such technology themselves. 

International sales account for a significant portion of our net revenue and risks inherent in international sales could harm our business. 

International sales represent a significant portion of our total product sales. For example, international sales represented 32.4 percent of our total product sales for the three months 
ended March 31, 2006 and 26.9 percent for the three months ended March 31, 2005. International sales represented 26.4 percent of our total product sales for the nine months ended 
March 31, 2006 and 27.1 percent for the nine months ended March 31, 2005. We anticipate that the portion of our total product revenue from international sales will continue to increase 
as we further enhance our focus on developing new products, establishing new distribution partners, strengthening our presence in key growth areas, and improving product 
localization with country-specific product documentation and marketing materials. Our international business is subject to the financial and operating risks of conducting business 
internationally, including: 

Our sales in the international market are generally denominated in U.S. Dollars, with the exception of sales through our wholly owned subsidiary, OM Video, whose sales were 
denominated in Canadian Dollars until March 4, 2005, when the subsidiary was sold to a third party. Consolidation of OM Video’s financial statements with ours, under U.S. GAAP, 
required remeasurement of the amounts stated in OM Video’s financial statements to U.S. Dollars, which was subject to exchange rate fluctuations. We did not undertake hedging 
activities that might have protected us against such risks.
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·   unexpected changes in, or the imposition of, additional legislative or regulatory requirements;  
·   fluctuating exchange rates; 
·   tariffs and other barriers; 
·   difficulties in staffing and managing foreign sales operations;  
·   import and export restrictions;  
·   greater difficulties in accounts receivable collection and longer payment cycles;  
·   potentially adverse tax consequences;  
·   potential hostilities and changes in diplomatic and trade relationships; 
·   disruption in services due to natural disaster, economic or political difficulties, quarantines, or other restrictions associated with infectious diseases. 
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We may not be able to hire and retain highly skilled employees, which could affect our ability to compete effectively and may cause our revenue and profitability to decline. 

We depend on highly skilled technical personnel to research and develop, market, and service new and existing products. To succeed, we must hire and retain employees who are 
highly skilled in the rapidly changing communications and Internet technologies. Individuals who have the skills and can perform the services we need to provide our products and 
services are in great demand. Because the competition for qualified employees in our industry is intense, hiring and retaining employees with the skills we need is both time-consuming 
and expensive. We might not be able to hire enough skilled employees or retain the employees we do hire. Our inability to hire and retain employees with the skills we seek could hinder 
our ability to sell our existing products, systems, or services or to develop new products, systems, or services with a consequent adverse effect on our business. 

Our reliance on third-party technology or license agreements. 

We have licensing agreements with various suppliers for software and hardware incorporated into our products. These third-party licenses may not continue to be available to us on 
commercially reasonable terms, if at all. The termination or impairment of these licenses could result in delays of current product shipments or delays or reductions in new product 
introductions until equivalent designs could be developed, licensed, and integrated, if at all possible, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.  

We may have difficulty in collecting outstanding receivables.

We grant credit without requiring collateral to substantially all of our customers. In times of economic uncertainty, the risks relating to the granting of such credit would typically 
increase. Although we monitor and mitigate the risks associated with our credit policies, we cannot ensure that such mitigation will be effective. We have experienced losses due to 
customers failing to meet their payment obligations. Future losses could be significant and, if incurred, could harm our business and have a material adverse effect on our results of 
operations or financial position. 

Interruptions to our business could adversely affect our operations.

As with any company, our operations are at risk of being interrupted by earthquake, fire, flood, and other natural and human-caused disasters, including terrorist attacks and disease. 
Our operations are also at risk of power loss, telecommunications failure, and other infrastructure and technology based problems. To help guard against such risks, we carry business 
interruption loss insurance with coverage of up to $5.4 million to help compensate us for losses that may occur. 

Risks Relating to Our Company

Our stock price fluctuates as a result of the conduct of our business and stock market fluctuations.

The market price of our common stock has experienced significant fluctuations and may continue to fluctuate significantly. The market price of our common stock may be significantly 
affected by a variety of factors, including:
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·   statements or changes in opinions, ratings, or earnings estimates made by brokerage firms or industry analysts relating to the market in which we do business or relating to us 
specifically; 

·   disparity between our reported results and the projections of analysts; 
·   the shift in sales mix of products that we currently sell to a sales mix of lower-gross profit product offerings; 
·   the level and mix of inventory levels held by our distributors; 
·   the announcement of new products or product enhancements by us or our competitors; 
·   technological innovations by us or our competitors; 
·   success in meeting targeted availability dates for new or redesigned products; 
·   the ability to profitably and efficiently manage our supplies of products and key components; 
·   the ability to maintain profitable relationships with our customers; 
·   the ability to maintain an appropriate cost structure; 
·   quarterly variations in our results of operations; 
·   general consumer confidence or general market conditions or market conditions specific to technology industries;  
·   domestic and international economic conditions; 
·   the adoption of the new accounting standard, SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payments” which requires us to record compensation expense for certain options issued before 

July 1, 2005 and for all options issued or modified after June 30, 2005; 
·   our ability to report financial information in a timely manner; and 
·   the markets in which our stock is traded. 
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Many of our officers and key personnel have recently joined the company or have only worked together for a short period of time. 

We have recently made several significant changes to our senior management team. In July 2004, we named a new President and Chief Executive Officer, who had been serving as our 
Vice-President of Product Development since December 2003. In addition, we hired a new Chief Financial Officer in July 2004, a Vice-President of Worldwide Sales and Marketing in 
November 2004, and a Vice-President of Operations in January 2005. In January 2005, we named a new Vice-President of Product Line Management, who had been serving as our 
Director of Research and Development. In September 2005, our Chief Financial Officer resigned his position and our Corporate Controller, who joined the Company in August 2005, was 
named our Interim Chief Financial Officer. In February 2006, we eliminated the position of Vice-President of Human Resources. As a result of these recent changes in senior 
management, many of our officers and other key personnel have only worked together for a short period of time. The failure to successfully integrate senior management could have an 
adverse impact on our business operations, including reduced sales, and delays in new product introductions. 

We have previously identified material weaknesses in our internal controls.

Although we have committed considerable resources to date to the reviews and remedies over our disclosure and financial reporting internal controls, it will take time and additional 
expenditures to completely remediate any material weakness in our internal controls. We are always at risk that any future failure of our own internal controls or the internal control at 
any of our outsourced manufacturers or service providers could result in additional reported material weaknesses. Recent changes to our management team increases the risk of a 
process breakdown and possible internal control deficiencies as we have many employees performing tasks they have not performed in the past, which could result in errors or lost 
knowledge. Any future failures of our internal controls could have a material impact on our market capitalization, results of operations, or financial position, or have other adverse 
consequences.

Our directors and officers own 18.7 percent of the Company and may exert significant influence over us.

Our officers and directors together have beneficial ownership of approximately 18.7 percent of our common stock (including options that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 
60 days of June 15, 2006). With this significant holding in the aggregate, the officers and directors, acting together, could exert a significant degree of influence over us and may be able 
to delay or prevent a change in control. 

Item 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Not Applicable.

Item 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

Not Applicable.

Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

Not Applicable.

Item 5. OTHER INFORMATION

Not Applicable.
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Item 6. EXHIBITS

______________

*Constitutes a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.    
1 Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K  

for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003.
2 Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K  

for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004.
3 Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K  

for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2005.
4 Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 1, 2004. 
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Exhibit SEC Ref.    
No.  No. Title of Document Location

10.8 10 Asset Purchase Agreement among Clarinet, Inc., American Teleconferencing Services, 
Ltd. doing business as Premiere Conferencing, and ClearOne Communications, Inc., dated 
July 1, 2004

Incorp. by reference4 

10.9 10 Stock Purchase Agreement dated March 4, 2005 between 6351352 Canada Inc. and 
Gentner Ventures, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of ClearOne Communications, Inc.

Incorp. by reference1 

10.10 10 Settlement Agreement and Release between ClearOne Communications, Inc. and DeLonie 
Call dated February 20, 2006*

Incorp. by reference3 

10.18 10 Mutual Release and Waiver between ClearOne Communications, Inc. and Burk 
Technology, Inc. dated August 22, 2005

Incorp. by reference2 

31.1 31 Section 302 Certification of Chief Executive Officer This filing
31.2 31 Section 302 Certification of Interim Chief Financial Officer This filing
32.1 32 Section 906 Certification of Chief Executive Officer This filing
32.2 32 Section 906 Certification of Interim Chief Financial Officer This filing
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto 
duly authorized.

52

 

Filer: ClearOne Communications, Inc. Form Type: 10-Q Period: 03-31-2006 Job Number: form10q03312006 Rev: 1 Sequence: 52

Project: form10-q03312006.pdml Document Name: form10-q03312006.htm Saved: 6/28/2006 15:23:33 Printed: 6/28/2006 15:23:48

clearone communications, inc. Description: ClearOne Communications, Inc. Form 10-Q For the Period Ended 03/31/2006 Created using EDGARizer HTML

  CLEARONE COMMUNICATIONS, INC. 

     
     
     
June 28, 2006 By: /s/ Zeynep Hakimoglu 

    Zeynep Hakimoglu

    President and Chief Executive Officer

    (Principal Executive Officer)

     
     
     
June 28, 2006 By: /s/ Craig E. Peeples 

    Craig E. Peeples

    Interim Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Controller

    (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Zeynep Hakimoglu, certify that:
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1.  I have reviewed this quarterly report of ClearOne Communications, Inc. on Form 10-Q; 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the 
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) 
and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have: 

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material 
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this 
report is being prepared; 

b)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure 
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

c)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the 
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the 
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: June 28, 2006 By: /s/ Zeynep Hakimoglu 

    Zeynep Hakimoglu

    President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Craig E. Peeples, certify that:
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1.  I have reviewed this quarterly report of ClearOne Communications, Inc. on Form 10-Q; 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the 
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) 
and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have: 

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material 
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this 
report is being prepared; 

b)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure 
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

c)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the 
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the 
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: June 28, 2006 By: /s/ Craig E. Peeples 

    Craig E. Peeples

    Interim Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Controller



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

I, Zeynep Hakimoglu, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Quarterly Report of ClearOne 
Communications, Inc. on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2006, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 
that information contained in such Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of ClearOne Communications, 
Inc.

 

A signed original of the written statement above required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to ClearOne Communications, Inc. and will be retained 
by ClearOne Communications, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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Date: June 28, 2006 By: /s/ Zeynep Hakimoglu 

    Zeynep Hakimoglu

    President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

I, Craig E. Peeples, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Quarterly Report of ClearOne 
Communications, Inc. on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2006, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 
that information contained in such Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of ClearOne Communications, 
Inc.

 
A signed original of the written statement above required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to ClearOne Communications, Inc. and will be retained 
by ClearOne Communications, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
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Date: June 28, 2006 By: /s/ Craig E. Peeples 

    Craig E. Peeples

    Interim Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Controller
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)


